
 

 

Tommy Dunn 
Chairman, District Five 

 
Brett Sanders 

V. Chairman, District Four 

PO Box 8002, Anderson, South Carolina 29622-8002 | www.andersoncountysc.org 
 
 

John B. Wright, Jr. 
District One 

 
Glenn Davis 

District Two 

Greg Elgin 
District Three 

 
Jimmy Davis 

District Six 

M. Cindy Wilson 
District Seven 

 
Renee Watts 
Clerk to Council 

 
 
 

Rusty Burns 
County Administrator 

 
 

AGENDA 
Special Presentation Meeting 

Tuesday, February 20, 2024, at 6:00 p.m. 
Historic Courthouse 
101 S. Main Street 

Anderson, South Carolina 
Chairman Tommy Dunn, Presiding 

 
1. CALL TO ORDER 
 
 
2. RESOLUTIONS/PROCLAMATIONS: 
    a. 2024-007: A Resolution honoring Pamela Christopher for her appointment as Chairman of the South Carolina 

Department of Transportation Commission. 
All Council 

 
    b. 2024-008: A Resolution to celebrate ten years of the Technical Career Pathways Program at Tri-County 

Technical College; and other matters related thereto. 
All Council 

 
3. COMMISSIONING NEW CODE ENFORCEMENT OFFICER 

Hon. JT Foster                                               
 
 
4. ADJOURNMENT 
 
 

 
AGENDA 

ANDERSON COUNTY COUNCIL 
REGULAR MEETING 

Tuesday, February 20, 2024, at 6:30 p.m. 
Historic Courthouse 
101 S. Main Street 

Anderson, South Carolina 
Chairman Tommy Dunn, Presiding 

 
1. CALL TO ORDER  
 
 
2. INVOCATION AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE                                                                Hon. Cindy Wilson 
 
 
3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES                                                                       minutes not received January 16, 2024,         

February 6, 2024 
 

4. CITIZENS COMMENTS                                                                                                        Agenda Matters Only 
                                                                                                                                  THREE-MINUTE TIME LIMIT  
  



 
 
Anderson County Council Meeting Agenda, February 20, 2024 
 
Page 2 

 

   
 

5. ORDINANCE THIRD READING: 
    a. 2023-052: An Ordinance authorizing the execution of an infrastructure credit agreement by and between 

Anderson County and Carolina Structural Systems, LLC providing for payments in lieu of taxes, the issuance of 
special source revenue credits, the inclusion of the property in a multi-county park and other matters related 
thereto. [Project Trust] 

Mr. Burriss Nelson (allotted 5 minutes) 
      
    b. 2024-003: An Ordinance to amend Ordinance #99-004, the Anderson County Zoning Ordinance, as adopted 

July 20, 1999, by amending the Anderson County Official Zoning Map to rezone 1.5 +/- acres from Residential 
Agricultural to Rural Commercial District on a parcel of land, identified as address in the Three and Twenty 
Precinct shown in Deed Reference 12274 33. The parcel further identified as TMS #165-00-07-008. [District 4]  

 
Ms. Alecia Hunter (allotted 5 minutes) 

 
    c. 2024-006: An Ordinance authorizing the execution and delivery of a fee in lieu of tax agreement and special 

source credit agreement by and between Anderson County, South Carolina and EastGroup Properties, L.P., a 
company formerly known to the county as Project Turkey, with respect to certain economic development 
property in the county, whereby such property will be subject to certain payments in lieu of taxes, and whereby 
project/company will be provided certain credits in related qualified infrastructure; and providing for related 
matters. [Project Turkey] (PUBLIC HEARING THREE MINUTE TIME LIMIT) 

 
Mr. Burriss Nelson (allotted 5 minutes) 

 
    d. 2024-007: An Ordinance to amend an agreement for the development of a joint county industrial and business 

park (2010 Park) of Anderson and Greenville counties so as to enlarge the park to include certain property of 
EastGroup Properties, L.P.; and other matters related thereto. (PUBLIC HEARING THREE MINUTE TIME 
LIMIT) 

Mr. Burriss Nelson (allotted 5 minutes) 
 

    e. 2024-008: An Ordinance to amend Section 24-335 of the Anderson County, South Carolina, Code of 
Ordinances to add an additional subsection concerning the effect of an appeal of a Planning Commission 
decision on a subsequent preliminary plat submission; and other matters related thereto. (PUBLIC HEARING 
THREE MINUTE TIME LIMIT) 

Mr. Rusty Burns (allotted 5 minutes) 
 

6. ORDINANCE SECOND READING:  
    a. 2024-002: An Ordinance to amend an agreement for the development of a joint county industrial and business 

park (2010 Park) of Anderson and Greenville counties so as to enlarge the park. (Project Colorful) 
 

Mr. Burriss Nelson (allotted 5 minutes) 
 

    b. 2024-009: An Ordinance to amend an agreement for the development of a joint county industrial and business 
park (2010 Park) of Anderson and Greenville counties so as to enlarge the park. 

 
Mr. Burriss Nelson (allotted 5 minutes) 

 
    c. 2024-010: An Ordinance to amend section 28-48 of the Code of Ordinances, Anderson County, South Carolina, 

to provide for two at-large members to the Anderson County Library Board of Trustees; and other matters 
related thereto. 

Mr. Rusty Burns (allotted 5 minutes) 
7. ORDINANCE FIRST READING 
    a. 2024-005: An Ordinance to lease real property to Hope Missions of the Upstate; and other matters related 

thereto. 
Mr. Rusty Burns (allotted 5 minutes) 

 



 
 
Anderson County Council Meeting Agenda, February 20, 2024 
 
Page 3 

 

   
 

    b. 2024-011: An Ordinance finding that Homeland Park Water District, South Carolina, may issue not exceeding 
$1,250,000 of general obligation bonds in one or more series; to authorize Homeland Park Water Commission 
to issue such bonds and to provide for the publication of notice of the said finding authorization; and other 
matters related thereto. 

 
Mr. Rusty Burns (allotted 5 minutes) 

 
8.  RESOLUTIONS:  
     a. 2024-009: A Resolution calling for a public hearing to be held upon the question of the issuance of not 

exceeding $1,250,000 general obligation bonds of Homeland Park Water District, South Carolina, and to 
provide for the publication of the notice of such hearing; and other matters related thereto. 

 
   Mr. Rusty Burns (allotted 5 minutes)       

 
 

9. CHANGE ORDERS/BID APPROVALS: 
    a. Bid #24-018 Boiler for ASEC (tabled on February 6, 2024 meeting) 
    b. Bid #24-019 Dolly Cooper Park Lighting Project                                                                         Mr. Rusty Burns 

 
                                                                                                       

10. REQUEST BY COUNCIL: 
      a. Pendleton Recreation Association-All Districts 
 
11. ADMINISTRATOR'S REPORT: 
      a. Budget Transfers 
      b. Special Projects 
      c. Paving 
 
 
12. CITIZENS COMMENTS                                                                                                       Non-Agenda Matters 
                                                                                                                                  THREE-MINUTE TIME LIMIT 
 
13. REMARKS FROM COUNCIL 
 
 
14. ADJOURNMENT 
 
 
 
 

 

 
Anyone who requires an auxiliary aid or service for effective communication, or a 

modification of policies or procedures in order to participate in this program, service 
or activity please contact the office of the program, service or activity as soon as 

possible but no later than 24 hours before the scheduled event. For assistance, please 
contact the Clerk to Council at (864) 260-1036. 



 
 

RESOLUTION 2024-007 
A RESOLUTION HONORING PAMELA CHRISTOPHER FOR HER 
APPOINTMENT AS CHAIRMAN OF THE SOUTH CAROLINA DEPARTMENT 
OF TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION. 
 
WHEREAS Pamela L. Christopher, known to us as “Pam”, has served as President and CEO of the Anderson 
Area Chamber of Commerce since 2014, and 

WHEREAS, during her time in Anderson, Pam has provided a breath of fresh air to our community, offering 
optimism and vibrancy as she goes about her duties overseeing the day-to-day operations of the Chamber, which 
serves more than 870 business members through promotion, advocacy, connection, and education, and 

WHEREAS, Pam excels in her career because she understands that business development is a community 
endeavor—one that requires building relationships across the public, private, and nonprofit sectors in order to foster 
positive growth, facilitate positive movement, and strengthen our county’s economic vitality, and 

WHEREAS, Pam’s holistic approach to business development through community involvement played a key role 
in her appointment as the Third Congressional District representative to the SCDOT Commission in 2020, and 

WHEREAS, due in large part to her talent for working with others and thoughtful approach to matters brought 
before the Commission, Pam was named the Commission’s Chairman at its meeting on January 18, 2024, and 

WHEREAS, in addition to her many personal and professional accolades, Pam will forever be known as the first 
woman to serve as the Chair of the SCDOT Commission. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Anderson County Council hereby congratulates Pam 
Christopher on her appointment as Chairperson of the SCDOT Commission and expresses its gratitude for the 
numerous things she has done and continues to do to make Anderson County a place of opportunity where hard 
work and honest endeavor are appreciated and rewarded. 

FOR ANDERSON COUNTY: 
 
________________               ________________     ________________  ________________ 
Tommy Dunn, Chairman        John B. Wright, Jr.     Glenn Davis   Greg Elgin 
County Council         District One      District Two   District Three 
                                                
                                                 ________________________         ________________                       ________________ 
                                                 Brett Sanders, Vice-Chairman         Jimmy Davis                                 M. Cindy Wilson 
          District Four        District Six     District Seven   
ATTEST:      
 
________________                   ________________ 
Rusty Burns          Renee Watts 
County Administrator                Clerk to Council 



RESOLUTION 2024-008 
A RESOLUTION TO CELEBRATE TEN YEARS OF THE TECHNICAL 
CAREER PATHWAYS PROGRAM AT TRI-COUNTY TECHNICAL 
COLLEGE; AND OTHER MATTERS RELATED THERETO. 

 
Whereas Tri-County Technical College plays a critical role in educating highly skilled 
workers for positions in business and industry, promoting economic diversity and 
prosperity in the community by ensuring students earn a high-quality credential that leads 
to a job that pays a family-sustaining wage; and 

 
Whereas Tri-County Technical College’s Technical Career Pathways (TCP) program, 
established during the 2013-2014 academic year, leverages community partnerships with 
school districts to create workforce pipelines that advance education while meeting 
business and industry needs; and 
 
Whereas Tri-County’s TCP program began with one pathway—basic electronics—
and seven students at Crescent High School and has since grown to eight 
pathways—business administration, computer & information technology, CNC 
programming and operations, emergency medical technology, engineering 
systems technology, HVAC, mechatronics, and welding—and hundreds of 
students each year at all sixteen high schools in Anderson, Oconee, and Pickens 
counties; and 
 
Whereas Tri-County’s TCP program is accessible, affordable, transferable, and 
supportive for all enrolled students; 
 
Now, therefore, be it resolved this twentieth day of February 2024, in meeting duly assembled, that the 
Anderson County Council hereby commemorates ten years of this program at Tri-County that is life-changing 
for hundreds of students and looks forward with excitement to the program’s future. 

 
 FOR ANDERSON COUNTY: 
 
 
 ________________        ________________  ________________  ________________ 
 Tommy Dunn, Chairman John B. Wright, Jr.  Glenn Davis   Greg Elgin 
 County Council  District One   District Two   District Three 
 

________________               ________________  ________________   
Brett Sanders, Vice-Chairman          Jimmy Davis                                     M. Cindy Wilson 

                 District Four   District Six   District Seven  
    ATTEST:  
   
 
    ________________                   ________________ 
    Rusty Burns              Renee Watts 
    County Administrator                Clerk to Council 



ORDINANCE NO. 2023-052 
 

AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION OF AN 
INFRASTRUCTURE CREDIT AGREEMENT BY AND BETWEEN 
ANDERSON COUNTY AND CAROLINA STRUCTURAL SYSTEMS, LLC 
PROVIDING FOR PAYMENTS IN LIEU OF TAXES, THE ISSUANCE OF 
SPECIAL SOURCE REVENUE CREDITS, THE INCLUSION OF THE 
PROPERTY IN A MULTI-COUNTY PARK AND OTHER MATTERS 
RELATED THERETO. 

 
 WHEREAS, Anderson County, South Carolina (the “County”) acting by and through its 
County Council (the “Council”) is authorized by Title 4 Chapter 1 of the Code of Laws of South 
Carolina, 1976, as amended (the “Act”), to provide special source revenue credits to offset 
payments in lieu of taxes, for the purpose of defraying the costs of designing, acquiring, 
constructing, improving, or expanding the infrastructure serving the County or certain projects or 
for improved and unimproved real estate and personal property used in the operation of a 
manufacturing facility or commercial enterprise in order to enhance the economic development 
of the County; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Carolina Structural Systems, LLC, a company organized and existing under 
the laws of the state of North Carolina, which was previously known to the County as Project 
Trust (the “Company”) is considering the location of a company production facility in the 
County that would require an investment of approximately $4,700,000 that is anticipated to 
result in the creation of approximately 60 new, full-time jobs in the County (the “Project”); and  
 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the authority of Section 4-1-170 of the Act and Article VIII, 
Section 13 of the South Carolina Constitution, the County intends to cause the site on which the 
Project is located, to the extent not already therein located, in a multi-county industrial and 
business park (a “Park”) established by the County pursuant to qualifying agreement with 
Greenville County, South Carolina dated as of December 1, 2010 (the “Park Agreement”); and 
  
  WHEREAS, in order to induce the location of the Project in the County, the Company 
has requested and the County has agreed to enter into an Infrastructure Credit Agreement (the 
“Agreement”) to provide for certain special source revenue credits (“SSRC”) in two parts:  Part I 
SSRCs equal to 41% of the payment in lieu of taxes associated with the Project for a period of 
thirty years, and Part II SSRCs equal to 15% of the payments in lieu of taxes associated with the 
Project (calculated after the application of the Part I SSRCs) for a period of five years 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the County Council of Anderson 
County, South Carolina, as follows: 
 

1. The County hereby approves the Agreement in the form attached hereto as 
Exhibit A, together with such changes as are not materially adverse to the County, upon the 
advice of the County Attorney, and the County Chair, County Administrator and Clerk to 
Council are hereby authorized and directed to execute and deliver the Agreement to the 
Company. 

 



2. The County hereby approves amending the the Park Agreement to add the Project 
to the Park, and the County Chair, County Administrator and Clerk to Council are hereby 
authorized and directed to execute and deliver such amendment to the Company. 

 
  3. All fee-in-lieu of ad valorem taxes pursuant to the Park Agreement received by 
the County for Park premises located in the County attributable to property added to the Park 
prior to November 16, 2020 shall be distributed in accordance with Section 3 of Ordinance 2010-
026 and Paragraph 7 of the Park Agreement.  All fee-in lieu of ad valorem  taxes pursuant to the 
agreement received by the County for Park premises located in the County attributable to Park 
property added on and after November 16, 2020 shall be distributed, net of special source credits 
provided by the County pursuant to Section 4-1-175 (“Net Park Fees”) as follows: First, 15% of 
Net Park Fees shall be deposited to Bond Fund created by Ordinance 2018-042 and used as 
required or permitted thereby, Second, 35% of Net Park Fees, and any surplus money under 
Ordinance 2018-042, shall be deposited to the Capital Renewal and Replacement Fund of the 
County, and Third, remaining Net Park Fees shall be disbursed to each of the taxing entitles in 
the County which levy an old ad valorem property tax in any of the areas comprising the 
County’s portion of the Park in the same percentage as is equal to that taxing entity’s percentage 
of the millage rate (and proportion of operating and debt service millage) being levied in the 
current tax year for property tax purposes. 

4. The Council Chair, Clerk to Council, County Administrator, County Attorney and 
all other appropriate officials of the County are authorized and directed to do any and all things 
necessary to effect the execution and delivery of the Agreement and the performance of all 
obligations of the County under and pursuant to the Agreement. 
 

5. The provisions of this ordinance are separable, and if any section, phrase, or 
provision is declared by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or unenforceable, the 
declaration shall not affect the validity of the remainder of the sections, phrases, and provisions 
in this ordinance. 

 
6. To the extent that this ordinance contains provisions that conflict with provisions 

contained elsewhere in the Anderson County Code or other County ordinances, the provisions 
contained in this ordinance supersede all other provisions and this ordinance is controlling. 
 
 7. This ordinance is effective upon public hearing and third reading. 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



AND IT IS SO ORDAINED, this 20th  day of February, 2024. 
 
 
ATTEST:          FOR ANDERSON COUNTY: 
 

Rusty Burns      Tommy Dunn, District #5, Chairman 
Anderson County Administrator 
                                                                           
 
 
Renee Watts 
Clerk to Council 
 
 
 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
Leon C. Harmon 
Anderson County Attorney 
 
 
 
First Reading:      November 21, 2023 
Second Reading:  December 5, 2023 
Third Reading:     February 20, 2024 
 
Public Hearing:     January 16, 2024 
 
 



 
EXHIBIT A 

INFRASTRUCTURE CREDIT AGREEMENT 



 1 
 

   
_______________________________________________________________________________ 
_______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 SPECIAL SOURCE CREDIT AGREEMENT 
 
 between 
 
 ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
 
 and 
 
 
 CAROLINA STRUCTURAL SYSTEMS, LLC, 

a North Carolina company 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 Dated as of February 20, 2024 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
_______________________________________________________________________________
_______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 2 
 

SPECIAL SOURCE CREDIT AGREEMENT 
 
  THIS SPECIAL SOURCE CREDIT AGREEMENT, dated as of February 20, 2024 
(the "Agreement"), between ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA, a body politic and 
corporate, and a political subdivision of the State of South Carolina (the "County"), and 
CAROLINA STRUCTURAL SYSTEMS, LLC, formerly identified as Project Trust, a company 
organized and existing under the laws of the State of North Carolina (the “Company”). 
 
 
 W I T N E S S E T H : 
 
  WHEREAS, the County, acting by and through its County Council (the "County 
Council") is authorized by Sections 4-1-175, 4-12-30(K)(3), and 4-29-68 of the Code of Laws of 
South Carolina, 1976, as amended, to provide financing or reimbursement of expenses, secured by 
and payable solely from revenues of the County derived from payments in lieu of taxes pursuant to 
Article VIII, Section 13 of the South Carolina Constitution, for the purpose of defraying the cost of 
designing, acquiring, constructing, improving, or expanding the infrastructure serving the County 
and for, in this instance, improved and unimproved real estate used for the distribution and assembly 
of fasteners  in order to enhance the economic development of the County; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Company, previously known to the County as Project Pack, 
desires to locate a company production facility in the County that requires an investment of 
approximately $4,700,000, not including the purchase price of the existing building, and that is 
anticipated to result in the creation of approximately 60 new, full-time jobs in the County at the 
Project Site (the “Project”); and 

  WHEREAS, in order to induce the location of the Project in the County, the 
Company has requested and the County has agreed to enter into this Special Source Credit 
Agreement (the “Agreement”) to provide for certain special source revenue credits (“SSRCs”) in 
two parts:  Part I SSRCs equal to 41% of the payments in lieu of taxes associated with the 
Project for a term of 30 years and Part II SSRCs equal to 15% of the payments in lieu of taxes 
associated with the Project for a period of five years  (net of the Part I SSRCs); and 

  WHEREAS, the County has previously caused the property subject to this 
Agreement to be placed in a joint county industrial business park (the "Park") entered into between 
the County and Greenville County by entering into an Agreement for Development of the Joint 
County Industrial Park, as amended from time to time (the “Park Agreement”), pursuant to the 
provisions of Article VIII, Section 13 of the South Carolina Constitution; and 
 
  WHEREAS, the County Council has duly authorized execution and delivery of this 
Agreement by an ordinance duly enacted by the County Council on February 20, 2024, following a 
public hearing held on January 16, 2024, in compliance with the terms of the Act (as defined 
herein). 
 
  NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the representations and agreements 
hereinafter contained, the County and the Company agree as follows: 



 3 
 

 
 ARTICLE I 
  

DEFINITIONS 
 
  The terms defined in this Article I shall for all purposes of this Agreement have the 
meanings herein specified, unless the context clearly otherwise requires.  Except where the context 
otherwise requires, words importing the singular number shall include the plural number and vice 
versa.   

  "Act" shall mean, collectively, Title 4, Chapter 29, Title 4, Chapter 12, and Title 4, 
Chapter 1 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina, 1976, as amended, and all future acts amendatory 
thereof. 

  “Affiliate” shall mean any entity that controls, is controlled by, or is under common 
control with the Company. 

  "Agreement" shall mean this Agreement, as the same may be amended, modified or 
supplemented in accordance with the terms hereof.    
 
  "Authorized Company Representative" shall mean any person or persons at the time 
designated to act on behalf of the Company by a written certificate furnished to the County 
containing the specimen signature of each such person and signed on behalf of the Company by its 
Corporate Officer. 
 
  “Authorized County Representative” shall mean the County Administrator or such 
other person or persons at the time designated to act on behalf of the County by a written certificate 
furnished to the Company containing the specimen signature of each such person and signed on 
behalf of the County by its County Administrator and the Clerk to County Council. 
 
  "Anderson Fee Payments" shall mean payments in lieu of taxes made to the County 
with respect to the Project by the Company, as required by the Park Agreement, minus payments 
due to Greenville County. 
 
  “Commencement Date” shall mean the last day of the Company’s tax year in which 
assets constituting a part of the Project are initially placed in service. 
 
  "Company" shall have the meaning hereinabove assigned. 
 
  “Confidential Information” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 7.10 herein. 
 
  "Cost" or "Cost of the Infrastructure" shall mean the cost of acquiring, by 
construction and purchase, the Infrastructure and shall be deemed to include, whether incurred prior 
to or after the date of the Agreement:  (a) obligations incurred for labor, materials, and other 
expenses to builders and materialmen in connection with the acquisition, construction, and 
installation of the Infrastructure; (b) the cost of construction bonds and of insurance of all kinds that 



 4 
 

may be required or necessary during the course of construction and installation of the Infrastructure, 
which is not paid by the contractor or contractors or otherwise provided for; (c) the expenses for test 
borings, surveys, test and pilot operations, estimates, plans and specifications and preliminary 
investigations therefor, and for supervising construction, as well as for the performance of all other 
duties required by or reasonably necessary in connection with the acquisition, construction, and 
installation of the Infrastructure; and (d) all other costs which shall be required under the terms of 
any contract for the acquisition, construction, and installation of the Infrastructure.   
 
  "County" shall mean Anderson County, South Carolina, a body politic and corporate 
and a political subdivision of the State of South Carolina and its successors and assigns.  
 
  "Event of Default" shall mean, with reference to this Agreement, any of the 
occurrences described in Section 6.01 hereof.    
 
  "Infrastructure" shall mean such of the Project's real estate, buildings, site 
improvements, internal roads, parking and all improvements thereon, as are permitted under the 
Act, whether owned by the Company or not. 
 

 “Investment Period” shall mean the period beginning with the Company’s tax year 
ending December 31, 2023 and ending five years after the Commencement Date. 

  “Investment Target” shall mean the investment by the Company of $4,700,000 
within the Investment Period, but excluding the purchase cost of the existing facility. 
   
  "Ordinance" shall mean the ordinance enacted by the County Council on February 
20, 2024, authorizing the execution and delivery of this Agreement. 
 
  “Park” shall mean the Joint County Industrial and Business Park established 
pursuant to the terms of the Park Agreement.  
  
  “Park Agreement” shall mean the Agreement for Development of the Joint County 
Industrial and Business Park between the County and Greenville County, South Carolina, as 
amended or supplemented from time to time. 
 
  “Person” shall mean an individual, a corporation, a partnership, an association, a 
joint stock company, a trust, any unincorporated organization, or a government or political 
subdivision. 

  “Project” shall have the meaning set forth in the recitals.  
 
  “Project Site” shall mean the land described in Exhibit A attached hereto. 
  
  “Repayment Amount” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.05. 
 



 5 
 

  “SSRC” shall mean the credit against the Company’s fee in lieu of tax payments, to 
reimburse the Company for the Cost of the Infrastructure, in the amounts set forth in Section 3.03 
hereof. 
 
 ARTICLE II 
  

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES 
 
  SECTION 2.01. Representations by the County.  The County makes the following 
representations and covenants as the basis for the undertakings on its part herein contained: 
 
  (a) The County is a body politic and corporate and a political subdivision of the 
State of South Carolina and is authorized and empowered by the provisions of the Act to enter into 
the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and to carry out its obligations hereunder.  By 
proper action by the County Council, the County has been duly authorized to execute and deliver 
this Agreement and any and all agreements collateral thereto. 
 
  (b) The County proposes to reimburse the Company for a portion of the Cost of 
the Infrastructure, including the purchase of improved real property, for the purpose of promoting 
the economic development of the County. 
  
  (c) The County is not in default under any of the provisions of the laws of the 
State of South Carolina, where any such default would affect the validity or enforceability of this 
Agreement. 
 
  (d) The authorization, execution, and delivery of this Agreement, and the 
compliance by the County with the provisions hereof, will not, to the County’s knowledge, conflict 
with or constitute a breach of, or a default under, any existing law, court or administrative 
regulation, decree, order or any provision of the Constitution or laws of the State relating to the 
establishment of the County or its affairs, or any agreement, mortgage, lease, or other instrument to 
which the County is subject or by which it is bound. 
 
  (e) The execution and delivery of this Agreement, the enactment of the 
Ordinance, and performance of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby do not and will 
not, to the County’s knowledge, conflict with, or result in the violation or breach of, or constitute a 
default or require any consent under, or create any lien, charge or encumbrance under the provisions 
of (i) the South Carolina Constitution or any law, rule, or regulation of any governmental authority, 
(ii) any agreement to which the County is a party, or (iii) any judgment, order, or decree to which 
the County is a party or by which it is bound; there is no action, suit, proceeding, inquiry, or 
investigation, at law or in equity, or before or by any court, public body, or public board, known to 
the County which is pending or threatened challenging the creation, organization or existence of the 
County or its governing body or the power of the County to enter into the transactions contemplated 
hereby or wherein an unfavorable decision, ruling or finding would adversely affect the transactions 
contemplated hereby or would affect the validity, or adversely affect the enforceability, of this 
Agreement, or any other agreement or instrument to which the County is a party and which is to be 
used in connection with or is contemplated by this Agreement, nor to the best of the knowledge of 



 6 
 

the County is there any basis therefor. 
 
  SECTION 2.02. Representations by the Company.  The Company makes the 
following representations and warranties as the basis for the undertakings on its part herein 
contained: 
 
  (a) The Company is a North Carolina company, validly existing, and in good 
standing, has power to enter into this Agreement, and by proper company action has been duly 
authorized to execute and deliver this Agreement. 
 
  (b) This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by the Company and 
constitutes the legal, valid, and binding obligation of the Company, enforceable in accordance with 
its terms except as enforcement thereof may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, or similar laws 
affecting the enforcement of creditors' rights generally.   
 
  (c) Neither the execution and delivery of this Agreement, the consummation of 
the transactions contemplated hereby, nor the fulfillment of or compliance with the terms and 
conditions of this Agreement, will result in a material breach of any of the terms, conditions, or 
provisions of any corporate restriction or any agreement or instrument to which the Company is 
now a party or by which it is bound, or will constitute a default under any of the foregoing, or result 
in the creation or imposition of any lien, charge, or encumbrance of any nature whatsoever upon any 
of the property or assets of the Company, other than as may be created or permitted by this 
Agreement. 
 
  (d) The reimbursement of a portion of the Cost of the Infrastructure by the 
County has been instrumental in inducing the Company to make additional capital investment in the 
County and in the State of South Carolina. 
 
  (e) The Company will invest not less than the Investment Target in the Project, 
prior to the end of the Investment Period.   
 
  (f) The Company will use commercially reasonable efforts to continuously 
operate a manufacturing facility in the County. 
 
  SECTION 2.03.  Covenants of County. 
 
  (a) The County will at all times maintain its corporate existence and will use its 
best efforts to maintain, preserve, and renew all its rights, powers, privileges, and franchises; and it 
will comply with all valid acts, rules, regulations, orders, and directions of any legislative, 
executive, administrative, or judicial body applicable to this Agreement. 
 
  (b) The County covenants that it will from time to time and at the expense of the 
Company execute and deliver such further instruments and take such further action as may be 
reasonable and as may be required to carry out the purpose of this Agreement; provided, however, 
that such instruments or actions shall never create or constitute an indebtedness of the County 
within the meaning of any state constitutional provision (other than the provisions of Article X, 



 7 
 

Section 14(10) of the South Carolina Constitution) or statutory limitation and shall never constitute 
or give rise to a pecuniary liability of the County or a charge against its general credit or taxing 
power or pledge the credit or taxing power of the State of South Carolina, or any other political 
subdivision of the State of the South Carolina. 
 
 ARTICLE III 
 
 SPECIAL SOURCE TAX CREDITS 
 
  SECTION 3.01. Payment of Costs of Infrastructure.  The Company agrees to 
initially pay, or cause to be paid, all Cost of the Infrastructure as and when due. The Company 
currently estimates that the total Cost of the Infrastructure is approximately $4,700,000. The 
Company agrees to complete the acquisition and construction of the Infrastructure pursuant to the 
plans and specifications approved by the Company whether or not the SSRC is sufficient to 
reimburse all of the Cost of the Infrastructure, paid by, or caused to be paid by the Company.  The 
plans and specifications for the Infrastructure may be modified from time to time as deemed 
necessary by the Company.   
 
  SECTION 3.02. Completion of Infrastructure.  The Company shall notify the 
County of the date on which the initial Infrastructure is substantially completed and the total cost 
thereof and certify that all costs of acquisition and construction of the Infrastructure then or 
theretofore due and payable have been paid and the amounts which the Company shall retain for 
payment of Costs of the Infrastructure not yet due or for liabilities which the Company is contesting 
or which otherwise should be retained.    
 
  SECTION 3.03.  Special Source Revenue Credit. 
 
  (a) To assist in paying for costs of Infrastructure, the County shall provide 
SSRCs in two parts: Part I SSRCs equal to Forty-One percent (41%) of the payments in lieu of 
tax due for the next thirty (30) years, and Part II SSRCs equal to 15% of the payments in lieu of 
taxes associated with the Project for a period of five years (after the application of the Part I 
SSRCs).  The SSRCs shall apply to reduce the Anderson Fee Payments otherwise due.  In 
exchange for the SSRCs, the Company hereby waives the manufacturing abatement.  If it is 
legally determined that the manufacturing abatement cannot be waived, the SSRCs shall be 
reduced by the amount of the abatement. 

  In order to facilitate the provision of the SSRCs, the Company shall file a separate 
Schedule A with its annual PT-300 property tax return (or successor form) and shall file copies 
of such return with the County Auditor, Assessor, and Treasurer on or before June 30 of the 
property tax year in which an SSRC is to be claimed, together with a written certification in the 
form attached hereto as Exhibit B claiming the credit for such year.  The separate Schedule A (or 
successor form) shall list only investments placed in service during the Investment Period.  
Failure to file copies of the applicable property tax return and certification prior to June 30 of 
each year shall constitute a waiver of the SSRCs for that year.  For example, and by way of 
example only, the Company must file copies of its PT-300 property tax return and written 
certification claiming SSRCs for the 2024 property tax year with the County, on or before June 



 8 
 

30, 2024.  

  (b) THIS AGREEMENT AND THE SSRCS PROVIDED BY THIS 
AGREEMENT ARE LIMITED OBLIGATIONS OF THE COUNTY. THE SSRCS ARE 
DERIVED SOLELY FROM AND TO THE EXTENT OF THE ANDERSON FEE PAYMENTS 
MADE BY THE COMPANY TO THE COUNTY PURSUANT TO THE ACT AND THE 
PARK AGREEMENT. THE SSRCS DO NOT AND SHALL NOT CONSTITUTE A 
GENERAL OBLIGATION OF THE COUNTY OR ANY MUNICIPALITY WITHIN THE 
MEANING OF ANY CONSTITUTIONAL OR STATUTORY LIMITATION AND DO NOT 
AND SHALL NOT CONSTITUTE OR GIVE RISE TO A PECUNIARY LIABILITY OF THE 
COUNTY OR ANY MUNICIPALITY OR A CHARGE AGAINST THE GENERAL CREDIT 
OR TAXING POWER OF THE COUNTY OR ANY MUNICIPALITY. THE FULL FAITH, 
CREDIT, AND TAXING POWER OF THE COUNTY OR ANY MUNICIPALITY ARE NOT 
PLEDGED FOR THE PROVISION OF THE SSRCS.   

  (c)` All fee-in-lieu of ad valorem taxes pursuant to the Park Agreement 
received by the County for property added to the Park prior to November 16, 2020 shall be 
distributed in accordance with Section 3 of Ordinance 2010-026 and Paragraph 7 of the Park 
Agreement.  All fee-in lieu of ad valorem  taxes pursuant to the Park Agreement received by the 
County for Park premises located in the County and attributable to Park property added on and 
after November 16, 2020 shall be distributed, net of special source credits provided by the 
County pursuant to Section 4-1-175 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina, 1976, as amended 
(“Net Park Fees”) as follows: First, 15% of Net Park Fees shall be deposited to Bond Fund 
created by Ordinance 2018-042 and used as required or permitted thereby, Second, 35% of Net 
Park Fees, and any surplus money under Ordinance 2018-042, shall be deposited to the Capital 
Renewal and Replacement Fund of the County, and Third, remaining Net Park Fees shall be 
disbursed to each of the taxing entitles in the County which levy an old ad valorem property tax 
in any of the areas comprising the County’s portion of the Park in the same percentage as is 
equal to that taxing entity’s percentage of the millage rate (and proportion of operating and debt 
service millage) being levied in the current tax year for property tax purposes.   
 
  SECTION 3.04.  Cumulative SSRC. The cumulative dollar amount expended by the 
Company on Infrastructure shall equal or exceed the cumulative dollar amount of all the SSRCs 
received by the Company. 
 

 SECTION 3.05.  Clawback.  

(a) If the Company does not invest and maintain a capital investment of at least 
$2,500,000 in the County as of the end of the Investment Period, this Agreement shall terminate, 
and the Company shall be obligated to repay to the County the total amount of SSRCs received, 
together within interest at the statutory rate for underpayments of property tax. 

(b) If the Company does not invest and maintain a capital investment of $4,700,000 
in the County as of the December 31, 2023 or fails to create and maintain at least 48 new, full-
time jobs in the County as of December 31, 2026, the Company shall forfeit the remaining Part II 
SSRCs. 



 9 
 

ARTICLE IV 
 

 CONDITIONS TO DELIVERY OF AGREEMENT 
 TITLE TO INFRASTRUCTURE 
 
  SECTION 4.01.  Documents to be Provided by County.   Prior to or simultaneously 
with the execution and delivery of this Agreement, the County shall provide to the Company: 
 
   (i) A copy of the Ordinance, duly certified by the Clerk of the County 

Council under its corporate seal to have been duly enacted by the County and to be in full 
force and effect on the date of such certification; and 

 
   (ii) Such additional certificates (including appropriate no-litigation 

certificates and certified copies of ordinances, resolutions, or other proceedings adopted by 
the County), instruments or other documents as the Company may reasonably request. 

 
  SECTION 4.02.  Assignment. The Company may assign or otherwise transfer any of 
its rights and interest in this Agreement on prior written consent or subsequent ratification of the 
County, which may be given by resolution, and which consent will not be unreasonably withheld, 
conditioned, or delayed. Notwithstanding the preceding sentence, the County preauthorizes and 
consents to an assignment by the Company of its rights and interest in this Agreement to an Affiliate 
of the Company so long as the Company provides written consent of the assignment, and the 
Affiliate agrees in a signed writing delivered to the County to assume all duties and obligations of 
the Company hereunder. 
 
 ARTICLE VI 
 
 DEFAULTS AND REMEDIES 
 
  SECTION 6.01.  Events of Default   The following are “Events of Default” under 
this Agreement:  
  
  (a) Failure by the Company or its successor to make payments in lieu of taxes in 
accordance with the Park Agreement and applicable law, which failure has not been cured within 30 
days following receipt of written notice from the County specifying the delinquency in payment and 
requesting that it be remedied; 
 
  (b) A cessation of operations of the Project, meaning a closure of the Project for a 
continuous period of six (6) months;  
 
  (c) A representation or warranty made by the Company which is deemed materially 
and adversely incorrect when deemed made; 
 
  (d) A representation or warranty made by the County which is deemed materially 
and adversely incorrect when deemed made; or 
 



 10 
 

  (e) Failure by the County to perform any of the terms, conditions, obligations, or 
covenants hereunder, which failure has not been cured within 30 days after written notice from the 
Company to the County specifying such failure and requesting that it be remedied, unless the 
County has instituted corrective action within the 30-day period and is diligently pursuing corrective 
action until the default is corrected, in which case the 30-day period is extended to include the 
period during which the County is diligently pursuing corrective action. 
 
  SECTION 6.02.  Legal Proceedings by Company.  Upon the happening and 
continuance of any Event of Default by the County, then and in every such case the Company in its 
discretion may: 
  
  (a) by mandamus, or other suit, action, or proceeding at law or in equity, enforce 

all of its rights and require the County to carry out any agreements with or for its benefit and 
to perform its or their duties under the Act and this Agreement; 

 
  (b) bring suit at law to enforce the contractual agreement contained herein; 
 
  (d) by action or suit in equity enjoin any acts or things which may be unlawful 

or in violation of its rights; or 
 
  (e) terminate the Agreement. 
 
  SECTION 6.03.  Remedies of the County.  Upon the happening and continuance of 
an Event of Default by the Company, the County, in every such case, shall be entitled to terminate 
this Agreement and to take such action as is permitted by law for collection of past due taxes or 
payments in lieu of taxes. 
 
  SECTION 6.04 Reimbursement of Legal Fee and Other Expenses. On the 
occurrence of an Event of Default, if a Party is required to employ attorneys or incur other 
reasonable expenses for the collection of payments due under this Agreement or for the enforcement 
of performance or observance of any obligation or agreement, the prevailing Party is entitled to seek 
reimbursement of the reasonable fees of such attorneys and such other reasonable expenses so 
incurred. 
 
  SECTION 6.05. Remedies Not Exclusive.  No remedy in this Agreement conferred 
upon or reserved to the Company or the County is intended to be exclusive of any other remedy or 
remedies, and each and every such remedy shall be cumulative and shall be in addition to every 
other remedy given under this Agreement or now or hereafter existing at law or in equity or by 
statute. 
 
  SECTION 6.06. Nonwaiver.  No delay or omission of the Company or the County to 
exercise any right or power accruing upon any default or Event of Default shall impair any such 
right or power or shall be construed to be a waiver of any such default or Event of Default, or an 
acquiescence therein; and every power and remedy given by this Article VI to the Company or the 
County may be exercised from time to time and as often as may be deemed expedient. 
 



 11 
 

 ARTICLE VII 
 
 MISCELLANEOUS 
 
  SECTION 7.01. Successors and Assigns.  All the covenants, stipulations, promises, 
and agreements in this Agreement contained, by or on behalf of, or for the benefit of, the County, 
shall bind or inure to the benefit of the successors of the County from time to time and any officer, 
board, commission, agency, or instrumentality to whom or to which any power or duty of the 
County, shall be transferred. 
 
  SECTION 7.02. Provisions of Agreement for Sole Benefit of County and Company.  
Except as in this Agreement otherwise specifically provided, nothing in this Agreement expressed 
or implied is intended or shall be construed to confer upon any Person other than the County and the 
Company any right, remedy, or claim under or by reason of this Agreement, this Agreement being 
intended to be for the sole and exclusive benefit of the County and the Company. 
 
  SECTION 7.03.  Severability.  In case any one or more of the provisions of this 
Agreement shall, for any reason, be held to be illegal or invalid, the illegality or invalidity shall not 
affect any other provision of this Agreement, and this Agreement and the SSRCs shall be construed 
and enforced as if the illegal or invalid provisions had not been contained herein or therein. 
 
  SECTION 7.04.  No Liability for Personnel of County or Company.  No covenant or 
agreement contained in this Agreement shall be deemed to be the covenant or agreement of any 
member, agent, or employee of the County or its governing body or the Company or any of its 
officers, employees, or agents in his individual capacity, and neither the members of the governing 
body of the County nor any official executing this Agreement shall be liable personally on the 
SSRC or the Agreement or be subject to any personal liability of accountability by reason of the 
issuance thereof. 
 
  SECTION 7.05.  Notices.  All notices, certificates, requests, or other 
communications under this Agreement shall be sufficiently given and shall be deemed given, unless 
otherwise required by this Agreement, when (i) delivered or (ii) sent by  United States first-class 
registered mail, postage prepaid, addressed as follows: 
 
 (a) if to the County:  Anderson County, South Carolina 
      Attn: County Administrator 
       101 South Main Street 
      Anderson, SC 29624 
       
   



 12 
 

      
  with a copy to:   Anderson County, South Carolina 
      Attn: County Attorney 
      101 South Main Street 
      Anderson, SC  29624 
 
       
       

(b) if to the Company:  Carolina Structural Systems, LLC 
     Alan Nason     2857 

Westpoint Road 
     Charlotte, NC 28208 

 
  with a copy to:   J. Wesley Crum, III, P.A. 
      202 Nantallah Trail 
      Mauldin, SC 29662 
      Attn:  J. Wesley Crum III 
 
  A duplicate copy of each notice, certificate, request or other communication given 
under this Agreement to the County or the Company shall also be given to the others.  The County 
and the Company may, by notice given under this Section 7.05, designate any further or different 
addresses to which subsequent notices, certificates, requests or other communications shall be sent. 
 
  SECTION 7.06.  Applicable Law.  The laws of the State of South Carolina shall 
govern the construction of this Agreement.  
 
  SECTION 7.07.  Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in any number of 
counterparts, each of which, when so executed and delivered, shall be an original; but such 
counterparts shall together constitute but one and the same instrument. 
 
  SECTION 7.08.  Amendments.  This Agreement may be amended only by written 
agreement of the parties hereto. 
 
  SECTION 7.09.  Waiver.  Either party may waive compliance by the other party 
with any term or condition of this Agreement only in a writing signed by the waiving party. 
 
  SECTION 7.10     Examination of Records; Confidentiality.  
 
  (a) The County and its authorized agents, at any reasonable time on reasonable 
prior notice, may enter and examine the Project and have access to and examine the Company’s 
books and records relating to the Project for the purposes of (i) identifying the Project; (ii) 
confirming achievement of the investment or job requirements hereunder; and (iii) permitting the 
County to carry out its duties and obligations in its sovereign capacity (such as, without limitation, 
for such routine health and safety purposes as would be applied to any other manufacturing or 
commercial facility in the County). 
 



 13 
 

  (b) The County acknowledges that the Company may utilize confidential and 
proprietary processes and materials, services, equipment, trade secrets, and techniques 
(“Confidential Information”) and that disclosure of the Confidential Information could result in 
substantial economic harm to the Company. The Company may clearly label any Confidential 
Information delivered to the County pursuant to this Agreement as “Confidential Information.” 
Except as required by law, the County, or any employee, agent, or contractor of the County, shall 
not disclose or otherwise divulge any labeled Confidential Information to any other person, firm, 
governmental body or agency. The Company acknowledges that the County is subject to the South 
Carolina Freedom of Information Act, and, as a result, must disclose certain documents and 
information on request, absent an exemption. If the County is required to disclose any Confidential 
Information to a third party, the County will use its best efforts to provide the Company with as 
much advance notice as is reasonably possible of such disclosure requirement prior to making such 
disclosure and to cooperate reasonably with any attempts by the Company to obtain judicial or other 
relief from such disclosure requirement. 
   

 SECTION 7.10.  Indemnity.  

 (a) Except as provided in paragraph (d) below, the Company shall indemnify and 
save the County, its employees, elected officials, officers and agents (each, an “Indemnified 
Party”) harmless against and from all liability or claims arising from the County’s execution of 
this Agreement, performance of the County’s obligations under this Agreement or the 
administration of its duties pursuant to this Agreement, or otherwise by virtue of the County 
having entered into this Agreement.  

 (b) The County is entitled to use counsel of its choice and the Company shall 
reimburse the County for all of its reasonable costs, including reasonable attorneys’ fees, 
incurred in connection with the response to or defense against such liability or claims as 
described in paragraph (a) above. The County shall provide a statement of the costs incurred in 
the response or defense, and the Company shall pay the County within 30 days of receipt of the 
statement. The Company may request reasonable documentation evidencing the costs shown on 
the statement. However, the County is not required to provide any documentation which may be 
privileged or confidential to evidence the costs. 

 (c) The County may request the Company to resist or defend against any claim on 
behalf of an Indemnified Party. On such request, the Company shall resist or defend against such 
claim on behalf of the Indemnified Party, at the Company’s expense. The Company is entitled to 
use counsel of its choice, manage and control the defense of or response to such claim for the 
Indemnified Party; provided the Company is not entitled to settle any such claim without the 
consent of that Indemnified Party, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, 
conditioned, or delayed. 

 (d) Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the Company is not required to 
indemnify any Indemnified Party against or reimburse the County for costs arising from any 
claim or liability (i) occasioned by the acts of that Indemnified Party, which are unrelated to the 
execution of this Agreement, performance of the County’s obligations under this Agreement, or 
the administration of its duties under this Agreement, or otherwise by virtue of the County 



 14 
 

having entered into this Agreement; or (ii) resulting from that Indemnified Party’s own 
negligence, bad faith, fraud, deceit, or willful misconduct. 

 (e) An Indemnified Party may not avail itself of the indemnification or 
reimbursement of costs provided in this Section unless it provides the Company with prompt 
notice, reasonable under the circumstances, of the existence or threat of any claim or liability, 
including, without limitation, copies of any citations, orders, fines, charges, remediation requests, 
or other claims or threats of claims, in order to afford the Company notice, reasonable under the 
circumstances, within which to defend or otherwise respond to a claim. 

 (f) The Company shall reimburse the County for any reasonable administrative 
expenses incurred in connection with the negotiation, implementation, or enforcement of this 
Agreement promptly upon written notice thereof, including but not limited to reasonable 
attorneys’ fees.  Failure to provide such reimbursement within thirty (30) days after written 
notice thereof shall constitute and Event of Default hereunder.  

SECTION 7.11.  Limitation of Liability.  

 (a) The County is not liable to the Company for any costs, expenses, losses, 
damages, claims or actions in connection with this Agreement, except from amounts received by the 
County from the Company under this Agreement. 

 (b) All covenants, stipulations, promises, agreements and obligations of the 
County contained in this Agreement are binding on members of the County Council or any elected 
official, officer, agent, servant or employee of the County only in his or her official capacity and not 
in his or her individual capacity, and no recourse for the payment of any moneys or performance of 
any of the covenants and agreements under this Agreement or for any claims based on this 
Agreement may be had against any member of County Council or any elected official, officer, 
agent, servant or employee of the County except solely in their official capacity. 

SECTION 7.12.  Termination. Unless first terminated under any other provision of this 
Agreement, this Agreement terminates on the expiration of the SSRCs and payment by the 
Company of any outstanding Anderson Fee Payments due on the Project pursuant to the terms of 
this Agreement. 

SECTION 7.13.  Business Day. If any action, payment, or notice is, by the terms of this 
Agreement, required to be taken, made, or given on any Saturday, Sunday, or legal holiday in the 
jurisdiction in which the Party obligated to act is situated, such action, payment, or notice may be 
taken, made, or given on the following business day with the same effect as if taken, made or given 
as required under this Agreement, and no interest will accrue in the interim. 

 
 
 

 SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS 
 



 15 
 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Anderson County, South Carolina, has caused this Agreement 
to be executed by the Chairman of County Council and attested by the County Administrator and 
the Clerk of its County Council and Carolina Structural Systems, LLC has caused this Agreement to 
be executed by its authorized officer, all as of the day and year first above written. 
 
 
     ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
 
 
     By: _________________________________________ 

    Tommy Dunn, Chairman of County Council   
    Anderson County, South Carolina 

 
ATTEST:     
 
 
By:__________________________________ 
Rusty Burns, County Administrator 
Anderson County, South Carolina 
 
 
 
 
By:___________________________________                                                                      
Renee Watts, Clerk to Council 
Anderson County, South Carolina 
 
 
 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company has caused this Agreement to be executed by its 
authorized officer, effective the day and year first above written. 

CAROLINA STRUCTURAL SYSTEMS LLC 
 
Signature:      

Name:       

Title:         
 
 
 

[SIGNATURE PAGE TO SPECIAL SOURCE CREDIT AGREEMENT]



 Exhibit A-1 

EXHIBIT A 
 

Exhibit A 
Description of Land 

 
TRACT 1 
 All that certain piece, parcel or tract of land containing 19.548 acres, more or less, lying 
and being more particularly described in that certain plat prepared by Triad Surveyors & Land 
Planners dated June 4,2001, and recorded in the Office of the Register of Deeds for Greenville 
County in Plat Book 44-S at page 39 A & B reference to which is hereby craved for a more 
complete metes and bound description. 
 
 THIS being the same land deed to Grantor herein by Deed of Toyoda-Koki Automotive 
South Carolina, Inc. by deed dated December 20, 2001 and recorded in the office of the Register 
of Deeds for Greenville County in Deed Book 1978 at page 1255. 
 
TM#:  0409000100109  
 
TRACT 2 
 All that piece, parcel or tract of land containing 50,004 acres, more or less, as shown on a 
plat dated June 8, 2000, as revised, prepared by Freeland & Associates, Inc., and recorded in the 
Office of the Register of Deeds for Greenville County in Plat Book 42-H at page 78, reference to 
which is hereby craved for a more complete metes and bounds description thereof.   
 
 THIS being the same property conveyed to the Grantor herein by Deed of Toyoda-Koki 
Automotive South Carolina, Inc. by deed dated February 28, 2001, and recorded in the Office of 
the Register of Deeds for Greenville County in Deed Book 1945 at page 1149 on March 13, 
2001.  
 
TM#:  0409000100105 

 
 
 
 
 



 Exhibit B-1 
 

 
 
 
 

EXHIBIT B 
 

 
 

INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT CERTIFICATION 
 
 I ________________, the _____________ of Carolina Structural Systems, LLC (the “Company”), 
do hereby certify in connection with the Special Source Credit Agreement dated as of February 20, 2024 
(the “Agreement”) between Anderson County, South Carolina and Carolina Structural Systems, LLC (the 
“Company”), as follows: 
 

(1) As of December 31, 20__, the total amount of Special Source Revenue Credits 
received by the Company is $_________________.  

(2) As of December 31, 20__, the total amount of investment in Costs of the 
Infrastructure by the Company is not less than $__________. 

 All capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the meaning set forth in the Agreement. 
 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have set my hand this _____ day of __________, 20__. 
 
 
 ___________________________________________ 
 
 
 By:_______________________________________ 
 Name:___________________________________ 
 Its:______________________________________ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  











































1 

ORDINANCE NO. 2024-006 

AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF A 
FEE IN LIEU OF TAX AGREEMENT AND SPECIAL SOURCE CREDIT 
AGREEMENT BY AND BETWEEN ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
AND EASTGROUP PROPERTIES, L.P., A COMPANY FORMERLY KNOWN TO 
THE COUNTY AS PROJECT TURKEY, WITH RESPECT TO CERTAIN 
ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT PROPERTY IN THE COUNTY, WHEREBY SUCH 
PROPERTY WILL BE SUBJECT TO CERTAIN PAYMENTS IN LIEU OF TAXES, 
AND WHEREBY PROJECT/COMPANY WILL BE PROVIDED CERTAIN 
CREDITS IN RELATED QUALIFIED INFRASTRUCTURE; AND PROVIDING 
FOR RELATED MATTERS. 

WHEREAS, ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA (the “County”), acting by and through 
its County Council (the “County Council”), is authorized and empowered under and pursuant to the provisions 
of Title 12, Chapter 44 (the “FILOT Act”), Title 4, Chapter 1 (the “Multi-County Park Act”), and Title 4, 
Chapter 29, of the Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as amended, to enter into agreements with industry 
whereby the industry would pay fees-in-lieu-of taxes with respect to qualified projects; to provide infrastructure 
credits against payment in lieu of taxes for reimbursement in respect of investment in certain infrastructure 
enhancing the economic development of the County; through all such powers the industrial development of the 
State of South Carolina (the “State”) will be promoted and trade developed by inducing manufacturing and 
commercial enterprises to locate or remain in the State and thus utilize and employ the manpower, products and 
resources of the State and benefit the general public welfare of the County by providing services, employment, 
recreation or other public benefits not otherwise provided locally; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the FILOT Act, and in order to induce investment in the County, the County 
did previously enter into an Inducement Agreement dated December 5, 2023 (the “Inducement 
Agreement”) with EastGroup Properties, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership (the “Company”) (which 
was formerly known to the County at the time as “Project Turkey”), with respect to the acquisition, 
construction, and installation of land, buildings, improvements, fixtures, machinery, equipment, 
furnishings and other real and/or tangible personal property to constitute a new distribution/manufacturing 
facility in the County (collectively, the “Project”); and 

WHEREAS, the Company has represented that the Project will involve an investment of 
approximately $36,300,000 in the County by December 31 of the fifth year after the first year which any 
portion of the Project is first placed in service; and 

WHEREAS, the County has determined on the basis of the information supplied to it by the 
Company that the Project would be a “project” and “economic development property” as such terms are 
defined in the FILOT Act, and that the Project would serve the purposes of the FILOT Act; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the authority of Section 4-1-170 of the Multi-County Park Act and Article 
VIII, Section 13 of the South Carolina Constitution, the County intends to cause the Project, to the extent 
not already therein located, to be placed in a joint county industrial and business park such that the Project 
will receive the benefits of the Multi-County Park Act; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Inducement Agreement, the County has agreed to, among other things, 
(a) enter into a Fee in Lieu of Tax and Special Source Credit Agreement (the “Fee Agreement”) and Special 
Source Credit Agreement (the “SSRC Agreement” and together with the Fee Agreement, the 
“Agreements”) with the Company, whereby the County would provide therein for a payment of a fee-in-
lieu-of taxes by the Company with respect to the Project, and (b) provide for certain special source credits 



2 

to be claimed by the Company against its payments of fees-in-lieu-of taxes with respect to the Project 
pursuant to Section 4-1-175 of the Multi-County Park Act; and 

WHEREAS, the County Council has caused to be prepared and presented to this meeting the forms 
of the Agreements which the County proposes to execute and deliver; and 

WHEREAS, it appears that the documents above referred to, which are now before this meeting, 
are in appropriate form and are an appropriate instrument to be executed and delivered or approved by the 
County for the purposes intended; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED, by the County Council as follows: 

Section 1. Based on information supplied by the Company, it is hereby found, determined and 
declared by the County Council, as follows: 

(a) The Project will constitute a “project” and “economic development property” as said terms 
are referred to and defined in the FILOT Act, and the County’s actions herein will subserve the purposes 
and in all respects conform to the provisions and requirements of the FILOT Act; 

(b) The Project is anticipated to benefit the general public welfare of the County by providing 
services, employment, recreation or other public benefits not otherwise provided locally; 

(c) The Project will give rise to no pecuniary liability of the County or any incorporated 
municipality or a charge against the general credit or taxing power of either; 

(d) The purposes to be accomplished by the Project, i.e., economic development, creation of 
jobs and addition to the tax base of the County, are proper governmental and public purposes; and 

(e) The benefits of the Project are anticipated to be greater than the costs. 

Section 2. The form, terms and provisions of the Agreements presented to this meeting are 
hereby approved and all of the terms and provisions thereof are hereby incorporated herein by reference as if 
the Agreements were set out in this Ordinance in its entirety. The Chairman of County Council and/or the 
County Administrator are hereby authorized, empowered and directed to execute, acknowledge and deliver the 
Agreements in the name of and on behalf of the County, and the Clerk to County Council is hereby authorized 
and directed to attest the same, and thereupon to cause the Agreements to be delivered to the Company and 
cause a copy of the same to be delivered to the Anderson County Auditor, Assessor and Treasurer. The 
Agreements are to be in substantially the form now before this meeting and hereby approved, or with such minor 
changes therein as shall be approved by the County Administrator, upon advice of counsel, his execution thereof 
to constitute conclusive evidence of his approval of any and all changes or revisions therein from the form of 
Agreements now before this meeting. 

Section 3. The Chairman of County Council, the County Administrator and the Clerk to County 
Council, for and on behalf of the County, are hereby authorized and directed to do any and all things necessary 
to effect the execution and delivery of the Agreements and the performance of all obligations of the County 
thereunder. 

Section 4. The provisions of this ordinance are hereby declared to be separable and if any 
section, phrase or provisions shall for any reason be declared by a court of competent jurisdiction to be 
invalid or unenforceable, such declaration shall not affect the validity of the remainder of the sections, 
phrases and provisions hereunder. 



3 

Section 5. All ordinances, resolutions, and parts thereof in conflict herewith are, to the extent 
of such conflict, hereby repealed. This ordinance shall take effect and be in full force from and after its 
passage by the County Council. 

ENACTED in meeting duly assembled this 20th day of February, 2024. 

ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 

By:  __________________________________    
Tommy Dunn, Chairman 
Anderson County Council 

Attest: 

By:  __________________________________   
Rusty Burns, County Administrator  
Anderson County, South Carolina 

By:  __________________________________   
Renee D. Watts, Clerk to Council  
Anderson County, South Carolina 

Approved as to form: 

By:  __________________________________   
Leon C. Harmon, County Attorney  
Anderson County, South Carolina 

First Reading: January 16, 2024 
Second Reading: February 6, 2024 
Third Reading: February 20, 2024 
Public Hearing: February 20, 2024  



4 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  

COUNTY OF ANDERSON 

I, the undersigned Clerk to County Council of Anderson County, South Carolina, do hereby certify 
that attached hereto is a true, accurate and complete copy of an ordinance which was given reading, and 
received unanimous approval, by the County Council at its meetings of January 16, 2024, February 6, 2024, 
and February 20, 2024, at which meetings a quorum of members of County Council were present and voted, 
and an original of which ordinance is filed in the permanent records of the County Council. 

Renee D. Watts, Clerk to County Council, 
Anderson County, South Carolina 

Dated: _________, 2024 



  

 

 

FEE IN LIEU OF TAX AND 
SPECIAL SOURCE CREDIT AGREEMENT 

Between 

ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 

and 

EASTGROUP PROPERTIES, L.P. 

Dated as of February 20, 2024



i 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

ARTICLE I  

DEFINITIONS 

SECTION 1.01 DEFINITIONS ...............................................................................................................................................................................3 
SECTION 1.02 PROJECT-RELATED INVESTMENTS.......................................................................................................................................7 

ARTICLE II 

REPRESENTATIONS, WARRANTIES, AND AGREEMENTS 

SECTION 2.01 REPRESENTATIONS, WARRANTIES, AND AGREEMENTS OF THE COUNTY ...............................................................8 
SECTION 2.02 REPRESENTATIONS, WARRANTIES, AND AGREEMENTS OF THE COMPANY ...........................................................8 

ARTICLE III 

COMMENCEMENT AND COMPLETION OF THE PROJECT 

SECTION 3.01 THE PROJECT ..............................................................................................................................................................................9 
SECTION 3.02 DILIGENT COMPLETION ..........................................................................................................................................................9 
SECTION 3.03 FILINGS AND REPORTS ............................................................................................................................................................9 

ARTICLE IV 

FILOT PAYMENTS 

SECTION 4.01 FILOT PAYMENTS................................................................................................................................................................. 11 
SECTION 4.02 SPECIAL SOURCE CREDITS .................................................................................................................................................. 12 
SECTION 4.03 FAILURE TO ACHIEVE MINIMUM INVESTMENT REQUIREMENTS ............................................................................ 13 
SECTION 4.04 REMOVAL OF EQUIPMENT ................................................................................................................................................... 13 
SECTION 4.05 FILOT PAYMENTS ON REPLACEMENT PROPERTY ...................................................................................................... 13 
SECTION 4.06 REDUCTIONS IN PAYMENT OF TAXES UPON DIMINUTION IN VALUE; INVESTMENT MAINTENANCE 

REQUIREMENT ...................................................................................................................................................................... 14 

ARTICLE V 

PARTICULAR COVENANTS AND AGREEMENTS 

SECTION 5.01 CESSATION OF OPERATIONS ............................................................................................................................................... 15 
SECTION 5.02 RIGHTS TO INSPECT ............................................................................................................................................................... 15 
SECTION 5.03 CONFIDENTIALITY ................................................................................................................................................................. 15 
SECTION 5.04 LIMITATION OF COUNTY’S LIABILITY ............................................................................................................................. 16 
SECTION 5.05 MERGERS, REORGANIZATIONS AND EQUITY TRANSFERS ........................................................................................ 16 
SECTION 5.06 INDEMNIFICATION COVENANTS ........................................................................................................................................ 16 
SECTION 5.07 QUALIFICATION IN STATE ................................................................................................................................................... 17 
SECTION 5.08 NO LIABILITY OF COUNTY’S PERSONNEL ...................................................................................................................... 17 
SECTION 5.09 ASSIGNMENT, LEASES OR TRANSFERS ............................................................................................................................ 17 
SECTION 5.10 ADMINISTRATION EXPENSES .............................................................................................................................................. 18 
SECTION 5.11 PRIORITY LIEN STATUS ........................................................................................................................................................ 19 
SECTION 5.12 INTEREST; PENALTIES .......................................................................................................................................................... 19 
SECTION 5.13 SPONSOR AFFILIATES ........................................................................................................................................................... 19 
 

  



ii 

ARTICLE VI 

DEFAULT 

SECTION 6.01 EVENTS OF DEFAULT ............................................................................................................................................................ 20 
SECTION 6.02 REMEDIES UPON DEFAULT ................................................................................................................................................. 20 
SECTION 6.03 REIMBURSEMENT OF LEGAL FEES AND EXPENSES AND OTHER EXPENSES ........................................................ 21 
SECTION 6.04 NO WAIVER ............................................................................................................................................................................. 21 

ARTICLE VII 

MISCELLANEOUS 

SECTION 7.01 NOTICES .................................................................................................................................................................................... 22 
SECTION 7.02 BINDING EFFECT .................................................................................................................................................................... 23 
SECTION 7.03 COUNTERPARTS ...................................................................................................................................................................... 23 
SECTION 7.04 GOVERNING LAW ................................................................................................................................................................... 23 
SECTION 7.05 HEADINGS ................................................................................................................................................................................. 23 
SECTION 7.06 AMENDMENTS ......................................................................................................................................................................... 23 
SECTION 7.07 FURTHER ASSURANCE .......................................................................................................................................................... 23 
SECTION 7.08 INVALIDITY; CHANGE IN LAWS ......................................................................................................................................... 23 
SECTION 7.09 TERMINATION BY COMPANY .............................................................................................................................................. 24 
SECTION 7.10 ENTIRE UNDERSTANDING.................................................................................................................................................... 24 
SECTION 7.11 WAIVER ..................................................................................................................................................................................... 24 
SECTION 7.12 BUSINESS DAY ........................................................................................................................................................................ 24 
SECTION 7.13 FACSIMILE/SCANNED SIGNATURES .................................................................................................................................. 24 
SECTION 7.14 DISTRIBUTION OF FILOT PAYMENT REVENUE BY COUNTY ................................................................................... 25 

EXHIBIT A – DESCRIPTION OF LAND 
EXHIBIT B – INVESTMENT CERTIFICATION 
EXHIBIT C – INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT CERTIFICATION 



iii 

SUMMARY OF CONTENTS OF 

FEE IN LIEU OF TAX AGREEMENT 

As permitted under Section 12-44-55(B), Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as amended 
(the “Code”), the parties have agreed to waive the requirements of Section 12-44-55 of the 
Code. The following is a summary of the key provisions of this Fee in Lieu of Tax and Special 
Source Credit Agreement. This summary is inserted for convenience only and does not 
constitute a part of this Fee in Lieu of Tax and Special Source Credit Agreement or a summary 
compliant with Section 12-44-55 of the Code.  

Company Name: EastGroup Properties, L.P. Project Name: Project Turkey 
Projected Investment: $13,100,000 Projected Jobs: N/A 
Location (street): 1630 Easley Hwy Tax Map No.: 218-00-01-038 
Attorney John F. Wall IV  Attorney Firm Burr & Forman LLP 

        
1. FILOT Yes     

Required Investment: $2,500,000     
Investment Period: 5 + 5 years if the Contract 

Minimum Investment Requirement 
is met during Standard Investment 
Period 

Ordinance No./Date:  2024-006 / Feb. 20, 2024 

Assessment Ratio: 6% Fixed Term (years): 30 years for each Phase 
Fixed Millage: Yes; 317.59 Net Present Value (if 

yes, discount rate): 
N/A 

Clawback information: Failure to achieve $2,500,000 (or $5,000,000 together with all Sponsor Affiliates) within 
the Standard Investment Period, Company must pay back difference between FILOT 
incentive and ad valorem tax plus interest 

2. MCIP   
Included in an MCIP: Yes 
If yes, Name & Date: Anderson/Greenville Park (2010) 

    
3. SSRC Yes 

Total Amount: 85% years 1-5; 35% years 6-30 
No. of Years 30 Years – performance based Special Source Credits. SSC Term starts once Company 

places first Phase of Project in service. 
Yearly Increments: Yes – see above 
Clawback information: If Company fails to achieve Contract Minimum Investment Requirement by the end of the 

fourth year, Special Source Credit is reduced to 35%. 

4. Other 
information 

  



 

FEE IN LIEU OF TAX AGREEMENT 

THIS FEE IN LIEU OF TAX AND SPECIAL SOURCE CREDIT AGREEMENT (the 
“Fee Agreement”) is made and entered into as of February 20, 2024 by and between ANDERSON 
COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA (the “County”), a body politic and corporate and a political 
subdivision of the State of South Carolina (the “State”), acting by and through the Anderson County 
Council (the “County Council”) as the governing body of the County, and EASTGROUP 
PROPERTIES, L.P., formerly identified as PROJECT TURKEY, a limited partnership 
organized and existing under the laws of the State of Delaware (the “Company”). 

RECITALS 

1. Title 12, Chapter 44 (the “FILOT Act”), Code of Laws of South Carolina, 1976, as 
amended (the “Code”), authorizes the County to (a) induce industries to locate in the State; (b) 
encourage industries now located in the State to expand their investments and thus make use of and 
employ manpower, products, and other resources of the State; and (c) enter into a fee agreement 
with entities meeting the requirements of the FILOT Act, which identifies certain property of such 
entities as economic development property and provides for the payment of a fee in lieu of tax with 
respect to such property. 

2. Sections 4-1-170 and 12-44-70 of the Code authorize the County to provide special 
source revenue credit (“Special Source Revenue Credit”) financing secured by and payable 
solely from revenues of the County derived from payments in lieu of taxes for the purposes set 
forth in Section 4-29-68 of the Code, namely: the defraying of the cost of designing, acquiring, 
constructing, improving, or expanding the infrastructure serving the County and for improved and 
unimproved real estate, and personal property, including but not limited to machinery and 
equipment, used in the operation of a manufacturing facility or commercial enterprise in order to 
enhance the economic development of the County (collectively, “Infrastructure”). 

3. The Company (as a Sponsor, within the meaning of the FILOT Act) desires to 
provide for the acquisition and construction of the Project (as defined herein) to constitute a 
facility in the County for manufacturing, warehousing, or distribution. 

4. Based on information supplied by the Company, the County Council has evaluated 
the Project based on relevant criteria that include, but are not limited to, the purposes the Project 
is to accomplish, the anticipated dollar amount and nature of the investment, the anticipated 
employment to be created or maintained, and the anticipated costs and benefits to the County. 
Pursuant to Section 12-4440(H)(1) of the FILOT Act, the County finds that: (a) the Project is 
anticipated to benefit the general public welfare of the County by providing services, employment, 
recreation, or other public benefits not otherwise adequately provided locally; (b) the Project will 
give rise to no pecuniary liability of the County or any incorporated municipality therein and to 
no charge against their general credit or taxing powers; (c) the purposes to be accomplished by 
the Project are proper governmental and public purposes; and (d) the benefits of the Project are 
greater than the costs. 

5. The Project is located, or if not so located as of the date of this Fee Agreement the 
County intends to use its best efforts to so locate the Project, in a joint county industrial or business 
park created with an adjoining county in the State pursuant to an agreement entered into pursuant 
to Section 4-1-170 of the Code and Article VIII, Section 13(D) of the South Carolina Constitution.

 

 



2 

6. By enactment of an Ordinance on February 20, 2024, the County Council has 
authorized the County to enter into this Fee Agreement with the Company which classifies the 
Project as Economic Development Property under the FILOT Act and provides for the payment of 
fees in lieu of taxes and the provision of Special Source Revenue Credits to reimburse the 
Company for payment of the cost of certain Infrastructure in connection with the Project, all as 
further described herein. 

NOW, THEREFORE, FOR AND IN CONSIDERATION of the respective 
representations and agreements hereinafter contained, the parties hereto agree as follows:  



3 

ARTICLE I  
DEFINITIONS 

Section 1.01 Definitions 

The terms that this Article defines shall for all purposes of this Fee Agreement have the 
meanings herein specified, unless the context clearly requires otherwise: 

“Administration Expenses” shall mean the reasonable and necessary expenses incurred 
by the County with respect to this Fee Agreement, including without limitation reasonable 
attorney fees; provided, however, that no such expense shall be considered an Administration 
Expense until the County has furnished to the Company a statement in writing indicating the 
amount of such expense and the reason it has been or will be incurred. 

“Affiliate” shall mean any corporation, limited liability company, partnership or other 
entity which owns all or part of the Company (or with respect to a Sponsor Affiliate, such Sponsor 
Affiliate) or which is owned in whole or in part by the Company (or with respect to a Sponsor 
Affiliate, such Sponsor Affiliate) or by any partner, shareholder or owner of the Company (or 
with respect to a Sponsor Affiliate, such Sponsor Affiliate), as well as any subsidiary, affiliate, 
individual or entity who bears a relationship to the Company (or with respect to a Sponsor 
Affiliate, such Sponsor Affiliate), as described in Section 267(b) of the Internal Revenue Code of 
1986, as amended. 

“Code” shall mean the Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as amended. 

“Commencement Date” shall mean the last day of the property tax year during which the 
Project or the first Phase thereof is placed in service, which date shall not be later than the last 
day of the property tax year which is three (3) years from the year in which the County and the 
Company enter into this Fee Agreement. 

“Company” shall mean EastGroup Properties, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership, its 
affiliates, and any surviving, resulting, or transferee entity in any merger, consolidation, or 
transfer of assets; or any other person or entity which may succeed to the rights and duties of the 
Company. 

“Condemnation Event” shall mean any act of taking by a public or quasi-public authority 
through condemnation, reverse condemnation or eminent domain. 

“Contract Minimum Investment Requirement” shall mean, with respect to the Project, 
investment by the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates of at least $13,100,000 in Economic 
Development Property subject (non-exempt) to ad valorem taxation (in the absence of this Fee 
Agreement). 

“County” shall mean Anderson County, South Carolina, a body politic and corporate and 
a political subdivision of the State, its successors and assigns, acting by and through the County 
Council as the governing body of the County. 

“County Administrator” shall mean the Anderson County Administrator, or the person 
holding any successor office of the County. 

 



4 

“County Assessor” shall mean the Anderson County Assessor, or the person holding any 
successor office of the County. 

 
“County Auditor” shall mean the Anderson County Auditor, or the person holding any 

successor office of the County. 
 
“County Council” shall mean the Anderson County Council, the governing body of the 

County. 
 
 “County Treasurer” shall mean the Anderson County Treasurer, or the person holding 

any successor office of the County. 
 
“Defaulting Entity” shall have the meaning set forth for such term in Section 6.02(a) 

hereof.  
 
“Deficiency Amount” shall have the meaning set forth for such term in Section 4.03(a) 

hereof.  

“Department” shall mean the South Carolina Department of Revenue. 

“Diminution in Value” in respect of the Project shall mean any reduction in the value, 
using the original fair market value (without regard to depreciation) as determined in Step 1 of 
Section 4.01 of this Fee Agreement, of the items which constitute a part of the Project and which 
are subject to FILOT Payments which may be caused by the Company’s or any Sponsor Affiliate’s 
removal and/or disposal of equipment pursuant to Section 4.04 hereof, or by its election to remove 
components of the Project as a result of any damage or destruction or any Condemnation Event 
with respect thereto. 

“Economic Development Property” shall mean those items of real and tangible personal 
property of the Project which are eligible for inclusion as economic development property under 
the FILOT Act, and selected and identified by the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate in its annual 
filing of a SCDOR PT-300S or comparable form with the Department (as such filing may be 
amended from time to time) for each year within the Investment Period. 

“Equipment” shall mean machinery, equipment, furniture, office equipment, and other 
tangible personal property, together with any and all additions, accessions, replacements, and 
substitutions thereto or therefor. 

“Event of Default” shall mean any event of default specified in Section 6.01 hereof. 

“Exemption Period” shall mean the period beginning on the first day of the property tax 
year after the property tax year in which an applicable portion of Economic Development Property 
is placed in service and ending on the Termination Date. In case there are Phases of the Project, 
the Exemption Period applies to each year’s investment made during the Investment Period. 

“Fee Agreement” shall mean this Fee in Lieu of Tax and Special Source Credit 
Agreement. 

“FILOT” or “FILOT Payments” shall mean the amount paid or to be paid in lieu of ad 
valorem property taxes as provided herein. 
 



5 

 “FILOT Act” shall mean Title 12, Chapter 44, of the Code, and all future acts successor or 
supplemental thereto or amendatory thereof. 

“FILOT Act Minimum Investment Requirement” shall mean, with respect to the Project, 
an investment of at least $2,500,000 by the Company, or of at least $5,000,000 by the Company 
and any Sponsor Affiliates in the aggregate, in Economic Development Property. 

 
“Improvements” shall mean improvements to the Land, including buildings, building 

additions, roads, sewer lines, and infrastructure, together with any and all additions, fixtures, 
accessions, replacements, and substitutions thereto or therefor. 

“Infrastructure” shall mean infrastructure serving the County and improved or 
unimproved real estate and personal property, including machinery and equipment, used in the 
operation of the Project, within the meaning of Section 4-29-68 of the Code. 

“Investment Period” shall initially mean, and shall initially be equal to, the Standard 
Investment Period; provided, however, that if the Contract Minimum Investment Requirement is 
satisfied by the end of the Standard Investment Period, the Investment Period shall be 
automatically extended, without further action or proceedings of the County or County Council, 
by five (5) years beyond the Standard Investment Period to end of the tenth (10th) anniversary of 
the Commencement Date, all in accordance with Section 12-44-30(13) of the FILOT Act. In the 
event the Commencement Date is December 31, 2026, as is presently anticipated, upon any such 
extension, the Investment Period will end on December 31, 2036. 

“Land” means the land upon which the Project will be located, as described in Exhibit A 
attached hereto, as Exhibit A may be supplemented from time to time in accordance with Section 
3.01(c) hereof. 

“MCIP” shall mean (i) the joint county industrial park established pursuant to the terms 
of the MCIP Agreement and (ii) any joint county industrial park created pursuant to a successor 
park agreement delivered by the County and a partner county in accordance with Section 4-1-170 
of the MCIP Act, or any successor provision, with respect to the Project. 

“MCIP Act” shall mean Title 4, Chapter 1, of the Code, and all future acts successor or 
supplemental thereto or amendatory thereof. 

 
“MCIP Agreement” shall mean the Agreement for the Development of a Joint County 

Industrial and Business Park (2010 Park) dated as of December 1, 2010, as amended, between the 
County and Greenville County, South Carolina, as the same may be further amended or 
supplemented from time to time, or such other agreement as the County may enter with respect to 
the Project to offer the benefits of the Special Source Revenue Credits to the Company hereunder. 

 
“Phase” or “Phases” in respect of the Project shall mean that the components of the 

Project are placed in service during more than one year during the Investment Period, and the word 
“Phase” shall therefore refer to the applicable portion of the Project placed in service in a given 
year during the Investment Period. 

 
“Project” shall mean the Land and all the Equipment and Improvements that the Company 

determines to be necessary, suitable or useful for the purposes described in Section 2.02(b) hereof, 
to the extent determined by the Company and any Sponsor Affiliate to be a part of the Project and 



6 

placed in service during the Investment Period, and any Replacement Property. Notwithstanding 
anything in this Fee Agreement to the contrary, the Project shall not include property which will 
not qualify for the FILOT pursuant to Section 12-44-110 of the FILOT Act, including without 
limitation property which has been subject to ad valorem taxation in the State prior to 
commencement of the Investment Period; provided, however, the Project may include (a) 
modifications which constitute an expansion of the real property portion of the Project and (b) the 
property allowed pursuant to Section 12-44-110(1), (2) and (3) of the FILOT Act. 

 
“Removed Components” shall mean components of the Project or portions thereof which 

the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate in its sole discretion, elects to remove from the Project 
pursuant to Section 4.04 hereof or as a result of any Condemnation Event. 

“Replacement Property” shall mean any property which is placed in service as a 
replacement for any item of Equipment or any Improvement previously subject to this Fee 
Agreement regardless of whether such property serves the same functions as the property it is 
replacing and regardless of whether more than one piece of property replaces any item of 
Equipment or any Improvement to the fullest extent that the FILOT Act permits. 

“Special Source Credits” shall mean the annual special source credits provided to the 
Company pursuant to Section 4.02 hereof. 

“Sponsor Affiliate” shall mean an entity that joins with the Company and that participates 
in the investment in, or financing of, the Project and which meets the requirements under the 
FILOT Act to be entitled to the benefits of this Fee Agreement with respect to its participation in 
the Project, all as set forth in Section 5.13 hereof. 

“SSC Term” shall mean a period of thirty (30) consecutive years during which the 
Company shall be entitled to receive, and the County agrees to provide, Special Source Credits in 
accordance with Section 4.02 hereof, beginning with the first year following the calendar year in 
which the first Phase of the Project is placed in service. 

“Standard Investment Period” shall mean the period beginning with the first day the 
Company purchases or acquires Economic Development Property to be placed in service at the 
Project, and ending five (5) years after the Commencement Date. 

“State” shall mean the State of South Carolina. 

“Termination Date” shall mean, with respect to each Phase of the Project, the end of the 
last day of the property tax year which is the 30th year following the first property tax year in which 
such Phase of the Project is placed in service; provided, that the intention of the parties is that the 
Company will make at least 30 annual FILOT Payments under Article IV hereof with respect to 
each Phase of the Project. 

 
“Transfer Provisions” shall mean the provisions of Section 12-44-120 of the FILOT Act, 

as amended or supplemented from time to time, concerning, among other things, the necessity of 
obtaining County consent to certain transfers. 

 
Any reference to any agreement or document in this Article I or otherwise in this Fee 

Agreement shall include any and all amendments, supplements, addenda, and modifications to 
such agreement or document. 



7 

 
Section 1.02 Project-Related Investments 
 

The term “investment” or “invest” as used herein shall include not only investments made 
by the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates, but also to the fullest extent permitted by law, those 
investments made by or for the benefit of the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate with respect to 
the Project through federal, state, or local grants, to the extent such investments are subject to ad 
valorem taxes or FILOT Payments by the Company. 

[End of Article I]  



8 

ARTICLE II 

REPRESENTATIONS, WARRANTIES, AND AGREEMENTS 

Section 2.01 Representations, Warranties, and Agreements of the County 

The County hereby represents, warrants, and agrees as follows: 

(a) The County is a body politic and corporate and a political subdivision of the State 
and acts through the County Council as its governing body. The County has duly authorized the 
execution and delivery of this Fee Agreement and any and all other agreements described herein 
or therein and has obtained all consents from third parties and taken all actions necessary or that 
the law requires to fulfill its obligations hereunder. 

(b) Based upon representations by the Company, the Project constitutes a “project” 
within the meaning of the FILOT Act. 

(c) The County has agreed that each item of real and tangible personal property 
comprising the Project which is eligible to be economic development property under the FILOT 
Act and that the Company selects shall be considered Economic Development Property and is 
thereby exempt from ad valorem taxation in the State. 

(d) The millage rate set forth in Step 3 of Section 4.01(a) hereof is 317.59 mills, which 
is the millage rate in effect with respect to the location of the proposed Project as of June 30, 2023, 
as permitted under Section 12-44-50(A)(1)(d) of the FILOT Act. 

(e) The County will use its reasonable best efforts to cause the Project to be located in 
a MCIP for a term extending at least until the end of the period of FILOT Payments against which 
a Special Source Credit is to be provided under this Fee Agreement. 

Section 2.02  Representations, Warranties, and Agreements of the Company  

The Company hereby represents, warrants, and agrees as follows: 

(a) The Company is organized and in good standing under the laws of the State of 
Delaware, is duly authorized to transact business in the State, has power to enter into this Fee 
Agreement, and has duly authorized the execution and delivery of this Fee Agreement. 

(b) The Company intends to operate the Project as a “project” within the meaning of 
the FILOT Act as in effect on the date hereof. The Company intends to operate the Project for the 
purpose of manufacturing, and for such other purposes that the FILOT Act permits as the Company 
may deem appropriate. 

(c) The execution and delivery of this Fee Agreement by the County has been 
instrumental in inducing the Company to locate the Project in the County. 

(d) The Company, together with any Sponsor Affiliates, will use commercially 
reasonable efforts to meet, or cause to be met the Contract Minimum Investment Requirement 
within the Investment Period. 

[End of Article II] 



9 

ARTICLE III 
 

COMMENCEMENT AND COMPLETION OF THE PROJECT 

 Section 3.01 The Project 

(a) The Company intends and expects, together with any Sponsor Affiliates, to (i) 
construct and acquire the Project, (ii) meet the Contract Minimum Investment Requirement within 
the Investment Period. The Company anticipates that the first Phase of the Project will be placed 
in service during the calendar year ending December 31, 2026. 

(b) Pursuant to the FILOT Act and subject to Section 4.03 hereof, the Company and 
the County hereby agree that the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates shall identify annually 
those assets which are eligible for FILOT Payments under the FILOT Act and this Fee Agreement, 
and which the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate selects for such treatment by listing such assets 
in its annual PT-300S form (or comparable form) to be filed with the Department (as such may 
be amended from time to time) and that by listing such assets, such assets shall automatically 
become Economic Development Property and therefore be exempt from all ad valorem taxation 
during the Exemption Period. Anything contained in this Fee Agreement to the contrary 
notwithstanding, the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates shall not be obligated to complete the 
acquisition of the Project. However, if the Company, together with any Sponsor Affiliates, does 
not meet the Contract Minimum Investment Requirement within the Investment Period, the 
provisions of Section 4.03 hereof shall control. 

(c) The Company may add to the Land such real property, located in the same taxing 
District in the County as the original Land, as the Company, in its discretion, deems useful or 
desirable. In such event, the Company, at its expense, shall deliver an appropriately revised 
Exhibit A to this Fee Agreement, in form reasonably acceptable to the County. 

Section 3.02  Diligent Completion 

The Company agrees to use its reasonable efforts to cause the completion of the Project 
as soon as practicable, but in any event on or prior to the end of the Investment Period. 

Section 3.03 Filings and Reports 

(a) Each year during the term of the Fee Agreement, the Company and any Sponsor 
Affiliates shall deliver to the County, the County Auditor, the County Assessor and the County 
Treasurer a copy of their most recent annual filings with the Department with respect to the 
Project, not later than thirty (30) days following delivery thereof to the Department. 

(b) The Company shall cause a copy of this Fee Agreement, as well as a copy of the 
completed Form PT-443 of the Department, to be filed with the County Auditor and the County 
Assessor, and to their counterparts in the partner county to the MCIP Agreement, the County 
Administrator and the Department within thirty (30) days after the date of execution and delivery 
of this Fee Agreement by all parties hereto. 

(c) Each of the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates agree to maintain complete books 
and records accounting for the acquisition, financing, construction, and operation of the Project. 
Such books and records shall (i) permit ready identification of the various Phases and components 
thereof; (ii) confirm the dates on which each Phase was placed in service; and (iii) include copies 



10 

of all filings made by the Company and any such Sponsor Affiliate in accordance with Section 
3.03(a) or (b) above with respect to property in service as part of the Project.by the Company and 
any such Sponsor Affiliates in accordance with Section 3.03(a) or (b) above with respect to 
property placed in service as part of the Project. 

[End of Article III] 
  



11 

ARTICLE IV 

FILOT PAYMENTS 
Section 4.01 FILOT Payments 
 

(a)       Pursuant to Section 12-44-50 of the FILOT Act, the Company and any Sponsor 
Affiliates, as applicable, are required to make payments in lieu of ad valorem taxes to the County 
with respect to the Economic Development Property. Inasmuch as the Company anticipates an 
initial investment of sums sufficient for the Project to qualify for a fee in lieu of tax arrangement 
under Section 12-44-50(A)(1) of the FILOT Act, the County and the Company have negotiated 
the amount of the FILOT Payments in accordance therewith. The Company and any Sponsor 
Affiliates, as applicable, shall make payments in lieu of ad valorem taxes on all Economic 
Development Property which comprises the Project and is placed in service, as follows: the 
Company and any Sponsor Affiliates, as applicable, shall make payments in lieu of ad valorem 
taxes during the Exemption Period with respect to the Economic Development Property or, if there 
are Phases of the Economic Development Property, with respect to each Phase of the Economic 
Development Property, placed in service by the Company or Sponsor Affiliate, as applicable, said 
payments to be made annually and to be due and payable and subject to penalty assessments on 
the same dates and in the same manner as prescribed by the County for ad valorem taxes. The 
determination of the amount of such annual FILOT Payments shall be in accordance with the 
following procedure (subject, in any event, to the procedures required by the FILOT Act): 

Step 1: Determine the fair market value of the Economic Development Property (or Phase 
of the Economic Development Property) placed in service during the Exemption Period using 
original income tax basis for State income tax purposes for any real property and Improvements 
without regard to depreciation (provided, the fair market value of real property, as the FILOT Act 
defines such term, that the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates obtains by construction or 
purchase in an arms-length transaction is equal to the original income tax basis, and otherwise, the 
determination of the fair market value is by appraisal) and original income tax basis for State 
income tax purposes for any personal property less depreciation for each year allowable for 
property tax purposes, except that no extraordinary obsolescence shall be allowable. The fair 
market value of the real property for the first year of the Exemption Period remains the fair market 
value of the real property and Improvements for the life of the Exemption Period. The 
determination of these values shall take into account all applicable property tax exemptions that 
State law would allow to the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates if the property were taxable, 
except those exemptions that Section 12-44-50(A)(2) of the FILOT Act specifically disallows. 

Step 2: Apply an assessment ratio of six percent (6%) to the fair market value in Step 1 to 
establish the assessed value of the Economic Development Property (or each Phase of the 
Economic Development Property) in the year it is placed in service and in each of the 30 years 
thereafter or such longer period of years in which the FILOT Act and this Fee Agreement permit 
the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates to make annual FILOT Payments. 

Step 3: Use a millage rate of 317.59 mills during the Exemption Period against the assessed 
value to determine the amount of the FILOT Payments due during the Exemption Period on the 
applicable payment dates. 

(b) In the event that a final order of a court of competent jurisdiction from which no 
further appeal is allowable declares the FILOT Act and/or the herein-described FILOT Payments 
invalid or unenforceable, in whole or in part, for any reason, the parties express their intentions to 
reform such payments so as to effectuate most closely the intent thereof (without increasing the 



12 

amount of incentives being afforded herein) and so as to afford the Company and any Sponsor 
Affiliates with the benefits to be derived herefrom, the intention of the County being to offer the 
Company and such Sponsor Affiliates a strong inducement to locate the Project in the County. If 
the Economic Development Property is deemed to be subject to ad valorem taxation, this Fee 
Agreement shall terminate, and the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates shall pay the County 
regular ad valorem taxes from the date of termination, but with appropriate reductions equivalent 
to all tax exemptions which are afforded to the Company and such Sponsor Affiliates. Any amount 
determined to be due and owing to the County from the Company and such Sponsor Affiliates, 
with respect to a year or years for which the Company or such Sponsor Affiliates previously 
remitted FILOT Payments to the County hereunder, shall (i) take into account all applicable tax 
exemptions to which the Company or such Sponsor Affiliates would be entitled if the Economic 
Development Property was not and had not been Economic Development Property under the Act; 
and (ii) be reduced by the total amount of FILOT Payments the Company or such Sponsor 
Affiliates had made with respect to the Project pursuant to the terms hereof. 

Section 4.02 Special Source Credits 

(a) In accordance with and pursuant to Section 12-44-70 of the FILOT Act and Section 
4-1175 of the MCIP Act, in order to reimburse the Company for qualifying capital expenditures 
incurred for costs of the Infrastructure during the Investment Period, the Company shall be 
entitled to receive, and the County agrees to provide, annual Special Source Credits against the 
Company’s FILOT Payments for SSC Term, calculated as follows: (1) 85% of each year’s 
payments in lieu of taxes pursuant to the Fee Agreement for years 1 through 5 of the SSC Term; 
and (2) 35% of each year’s payments in lieu of taxes pursuant to the Fee Agreement for years 6 
through 30 of the SSC Term, all to be calculated and applied after any amount due the non-host 
county(ies), with respect to the Project (that is, with respect to investment made by the Company 
under the Fee Agreement during the Investment Period). 

(b) Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, under no circumstances shall the 
Company be entitled to claim or receive any abatement of ad valorem taxes for any portion of the 
investment in the Project for which a Special Source Credit is taken. 

(c) In no event shall the aggregate amount of all Special Source Credits claimed by the 
Company exceed the amount expended with respect to the Infrastructure at any point in time. The 
Company shall be responsible for making written annual certification as to compliance with the 
provisions of the preceding sentence through the delivery of a certification in substantially the form 
attached hereto as Exhibit C. 

(d) Notwithstanding the calculation of Special Source Credits in Section 4.02(a), should 
the Company fail to meet the Contract Minimum Investment Requirement by the end of the fourth 
year, the Special Source Credit otherwise provided for year 5 shall be reduced to thirty-five percent 
(35%) and the Special Source Credits shall remain at that level for years 6 through 30. 

 
As provided in Section 4-29-68 of the Code, to the extent any Special Source Credit is 

taken against a fee in lieu of tax payment on personal property, and the personal property is 
removed from the Project at any time during the term of this Fee Agreement (and not replaced 
with qualifying replacement property), the amount of the fee in lieu of taxes due on the personal 
property for the year in which the personal property was removed from the Project shall be due for 
the two (2) years immediately following such removal. 

(e) Each annual Special Source Credit shall be reflected by the County Auditor or other 
authorized County official or representative on each bill for FILOT Payments sent to the Company 



13 

by the County for each applicable property tax year, by reducing such FILOT Payments otherwise 
due by the amount of the Special Source Credit to be provided to the Company for such property 
tax year. 

(f) The Special Source Credits are payable solely from the FILOT Payments, are not 
secured by, or in any way entitled to, a pledge of the full faith, credit or taxing power of the 
County, are not an indebtedness of the County within the meaning of any State constitutional 
provision or statutory limitation, are payable solely from a special source that does not include 
revenues from any tax or license, and are not a pecuniary liability of the County or a charge 
against the general credit or taxing power of the County. 

Section 4.03 Failure to Achieve Minimum Investment Requirements 
 
(a) In the event the Company, together with any Sponsor Affiliates, fails to meet the 

FILOT Act Minimum Investment Requirement by the end of the Investment Period, this Fee 
Agreement shall terminate and the Company and such Sponsor Affiliates shall pay the County 
an amount which is equal to the excess, if any, of (i) the total amount of ad valorem taxes as 
would result from taxes levied on the Project by the County, municipality or municipalities, 
school district or school districts, and other political units as if the items of property comprising 
the Economic Development Property were not Economic Development Property, but with 
appropriate reductions equivalent to all tax exemptions and abatements to which the Company 
and such Sponsor Affiliates would be entitled in such a case, through and including the end of 
the Investment Period, over (ii) the total amount of FILOT Payments the Company and such 
Sponsor Affiliates have made with respect to the Economic Development Property (such excess, 
a “Deficiency Amount”) for the period through and including the end of the Investment Period. 
Any amounts determined to be owing pursuant to the foregoing sentence shall be payable to the 
County on or before the one hundred twentieth (120th) day following the last day of the 
Investment Period  

 
(b) As a condition to the FILOT benefit provided herein, the Company agrees to 

provide the County Administrator, the County Assessor, the County Auditor and the County 
Treasurer with an annual certification as to investment in the Project. Such certification shall be in 
substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit B, and shall be due no later than the May 1 
following the immediately preceding December 31 of each year during the Investment Period. 

Section 4.04 Removal of Equipment 

Subject, always, to the other terms and provisions of this Fee Agreement, the Company 
and any Sponsor Affiliates shall be entitled to remove and dispose of components of the Project 
from the Project in its sole discretion with the result that said components shall no longer be 
considered a part of the Project and, to the extent such constitute Economic Development 
Property, shall no longer be subject to the terms of this Fee Agreement. Economic Development 
Property is disposed of only when it is scrapped or sold or removed from the Project. If it is 
removed from the Project, it is subject to ad valorem property taxes to the extent the Property 
remains in the State and is otherwise subject to ad valorem property taxes. 

Section 4.05 FILOT Payments on Replacement Property 

If the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate elects to replace any Removed Components and 
to substitute such Removed Components with Replacement Property as a part of the Economic 



14 

Development Property, or the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate otherwise utilizes Replacement 
Property, then, pursuant and subject to the provisions of Section 12-44-60 of the FILOT Act, the 
Company or such Sponsor Affiliate shall make statutory payments in lieu of ad valorem taxes with 
regard to such Replacement Property in accordance with the following: 

(i) Replacement Property does not have to serve the same function as the 
Economic Development Property it is replacing. Replacement Property is deemed to 
replace the oldest Economic Development Property subject to the FILOT, whether real or 
personal, which is disposed of in the same property tax year in which the Replacement 
Property is placed in service. Replacement Property qualifies as Economic Development 
Property only to the extent of the original income tax basis of Economic Development 
Property which is being disposed of in the same property tax year. More than one piece of 
property can replace a single piece of Economic Development Property. To the extent that 
the income tax basis of the Replacement Property exceeds the original income tax basis of 
the Economic Development Property which it is replacing, the excess amount is subject to 
annual payments calculated as if the exemption for Economic Development Property were 
not allowable. Replacement Property is entitled to treatment under the Fee Agreement for 
the period of time remaining during the Exemption Period for the Economic Development 
Property which it is replacing; and 

(ii) The new Replacement Property which qualifies for the FILOT shall be 
recorded using its income tax basis, and the calculation of the FILOT shall utilize the 
millage rate and assessment ratio in effect with regard to the original property subject to 
the FILOT. 

Section 4.06 Reductions in Payment of Taxes Upon Diminution in Value; Investment 
Maintenance Requirement 

 
In the event of a Diminution in Value of the Economic Development Property, the FILOT 

Payment in Lieu of Taxes with regard to the Economic Development Property shall be reduced in 
the same proportion as the amount of such Diminution in Value bears to the original fair market 
value of the Economic Development Property as determined pursuant to Step 1 of Section 4.01(a) 
hereof; provided, however, that if at any time subsequent to the end of the Investment Period, the 
total value of the Project remaining in the County based on the original income tax basis thereof 
(that is, without regard to depreciation), is less than the FILOT Act Minimum Investment 
Requirement, then beginning with the first payment thereafter due hereunder and continuing until 
the Termination Date, the Project shall no longer be entitled to the incentive provided in Section 
4.01, and the Company and any Sponsor Affiliate shall therefore commence to pay regular ad 
valorem taxes thereon, calculated as set forth in Section 4.01(b) hereof. 

[End of Article IV]  



15 

ARTICLE V 

PARTICULAR COVENANTS AND AGREEMENTS 

Section 5.01 Cessation of Operations  

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Fee Agreement, each of the Company and any 
Sponsor Affiliates acknowledges and agrees that County’s obligation to provide the FILOT 
incentive may end, and this Fee Agreement may be terminated by the County, at the County’s sole 
discretion, if the Company ceases operations at the Project; provided, however, that the Special 
Source Credits provided for in this Fee Agreement shall automatically terminate if the Company 
ceases operations as set forth in this Section 5.01. For purposes of this Section, “ceases operations” 
means closure of the facility or the cessation of production and shipment of products to customers 
for a continuous period of twelve (12) months. The provisions of Section 4.03 hereof relating to 
retroactive payments shall apply, if applicable, if this Fee Agreement is terminated in accordance 
with this Section prior to the end of the Investment Period. Each of the Company and any Sponsor 
Affiliates agrees that if this Fee Agreement is terminated pursuant to this subsection, that under no 
circumstance shall the County be required to refund or pay any monies to the Company or any 
Sponsor Affiliates. 

Section 5.02 Rights to Inspect 

The Company agrees that the County and its authorized agents shall have the right at all 
reasonable times and upon prior reasonable notice to enter upon and examine and inspect the 
Project. The County and its authorized agents shall also be permitted, at all reasonable times and 
upon prior reasonable notice, to have access to examine and inspect the Company’s South Carolina 
property tax returns, as filed. The aforesaid rights of examination and inspection shall be exercised 
only upon such reasonable and necessary terms and conditions as the Company shall prescribe, 
and shall be subject to the provisions of Section 5.03 hereof. 

Section 5.03 Confidentiality 

The County acknowledges and understands that the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates 
may utilize confidential and proprietary processes and materials, services, equipment, trade 
secrets, and techniques (herein “Confidential Information”). In this regard, the Company and any 
Sponsor Affiliates may clearly label any Confidential Information delivered to the County 
“Confidential Information.” The County agrees that, except as required by law, neither the County 
nor any employee, agent, or contractor of the County shall disclose or otherwise divulge any such 
clearly labeled Confidential Information to any other person, firm, governmental body or agency, 
or any other entity unless specifically required to do so by law. Each of the Company and any 
Sponsor Affiliates acknowledge that the County is subject to the South Carolina Freedom of 
Information Act, and, as a result, must disclose certain documents and information on request, 
absent an exemption. In the event that the County is required to disclose any Confidential 
Information obtained from the Company or any Sponsor Affiliates to any third party, the County 
agrees to provide the Company and such Sponsor Affiliates with as much advance notice as is 
reasonably possible of such requirement before making such disclosure, and to cooperate 
reasonably with any attempts by the Company and such Sponsor Affiliates to obtain judicial or 
other relief from such disclosure requirement. 

 

 



16 

Section 5.04 Limitation of County’s Liability 
 
Anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding, any financial obligation the County may 

incur hereunder, including for the payment of money, shall not be deemed to constitute a pecuniary 
liability or a debt or general obligation of the County (it being intended herein that any obligations 
of the County with respect to the Special Source Credits shall be payable only from FILOT 
Payments received from or payable by the Company or any Sponsor Affiliates); provided, 
however, that nothing herein shall prevent the Company from enforcing its rights hereunder by 
suit for mandamus or specific performance. 

 
Section 5.05 Mergers, Reorganizations and Equity Transfers 

 
Each of the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates acknowledges that any mergers, 

reorganizations or consolidations of the Company and such Sponsor Affiliates may cause the 
Project to become ineligible for negotiated fees in lieu of taxes under the FILOT Act absent 
compliance by the Company and such Sponsor Affiliates with the Transfer Provisions; provided 
that, to the extent provided by Section 12-44-120 of the FILOT Act or any successor provision, 
any financing arrangements entered into by the Company or any Sponsor Affiliates with respect 
to the Project and any security interests granted by the Company or any Sponsor Affiliates in 
connection therewith shall not be construed as a transfer for purposes of the Transfer Provisions. 
Notwithstanding anything in this Fee Agreement to the contrary, it is not intended in this Fee 
Agreement that the County shall impose transfer restrictions with respect to the Company, any 
Sponsor Affiliates or the Project as are any more restrictive than the Transfer Provisions. 

Section 5.06 Indemnification Covenants 
 
(a) Notwithstanding any other provisions in this Fee Agreement or in any other 

agreements with the County, the Company agrees to indemnify, defend and save the County, its 
County Council members, elected officials, officers, employees, servants and agents (collectively, 
the “Indemnified Parties”) harmless against and from all claims by or on behalf of any person, firm 
or corporation arising from the conduct or management of, or from any work or thing done on the 
Project or the Land by the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate, their members, officers, 
shareholders, employees, servants, contractors, and agents during the term of this Fee Agreement, 
and, the Company further, shall indemnify, defend and save the Indemnified Parties harmless 
against and from all claims arising during the term of this Fee Agreement from (i) entering into 
and performing its obligations under this Fee Agreement, (ii) any condition of the Project, (iii) any 
breach or default on the part of the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate in the performance of any 
of its obligations under this Fee Agreement, (iv) any act of negligence of the Company or any 
Sponsor Affiliate or its agents, contractors, servants, employees or licensees, (v) any act of 
negligence of any assignee or lessee of the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate, or of any agents, 
contractors, servants, employees or licensees of any assignee or lessee of the Company or any 
Sponsor Affiliate, or (vi) any environmental violation, condition, or effect with respect to the 
Project. The Company shall indemnify, defend and save the County harmless from and against all 
costs and expenses incurred in or in connection with any such claim arising as aforesaid or in 
connection with any action or proceeding brought thereon, and upon notice from the County, the 
Company shall defend it in any such action, prosecution or proceeding with legal counsel 
acceptable to the County (the approval of which shall not be unreasonably withheld). 

 



17 

(b) Notwithstanding the fact that it is the intention of the parties that the Indemnified 
Parties shall not incur pecuniary liability by reason of the terms of this Fee Agreement, or the 
undertakings required of the County hereunder, by reason of the granting of the FILOT, by reason 
of the execution of this Fee Agreement, by the reason of the performance of any act requested of 
it by the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate, or by reason of the County’s relationship to the Project 
or by the operation of the Project by the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate, including all claims, 
liabilities or losses arising in connection with the violation of any statutes or regulations pertaining 
to the foregoing, nevertheless, if the County or any of the other Indemnified Parties should incur 
any such pecuniary liability, then in such event the Company shall indemnify, defend and hold 
them harmless against all claims by or on behalf of any person, firm or corporation, arising out of 
the same, and all costs and expenses incurred in connection with any such claim or in connection 
with any action or proceeding brought thereon, and upon notice, the Company shall defend them 
in any such action or proceeding with legal counsel acceptable to the County (the approval of 
which shall not be unreasonably withheld); provided, however, that such indemnity shall not apply 
to the extent that any such claim is attributable to (i) the grossly negligent acts or omissions or 
willful misconduct of the County, its agents, officers or employees, or (ii) any breach of this Fee 
Agreement by the County. 

 
(c) Notwithstanding anything in this Fee Agreement to the contrary, the above-

referenced covenants insofar as they pertain to costs, damages, liabilities or claims by any 
Indemnified Party resulting from any of the above-described acts of or failure to act by the 
Company or any Sponsor Affiliate, shall survive any termination of this Fee Agreement. 

Section 5.07 Qualification in State 

Each of the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates warrant that it is duly qualified to do 
business in the State, and covenants that it will continue to be so qualified so long as it operates 
any portion of the Project. 

Section 5.08 No Liability of County’s Personnel 

All covenants, stipulations, promises, agreements and obligations of the County contained 
herein shall be deemed to be covenants, stipulations, promises, agreements and obligations of the 
County and shall be binding upon any member of the County Council or any elected official, 
officer, agent, servant or employee of the County only in his or her official capacity and not in his 
or her individual capacity, and no recourse shall be had for the payment of any moneys hereunder 
against any member of the governing body of the County or any elected official, officer, agent, 
servants or employee of the County and no recourse shall be had against any member of the County 
Council or any elected official, officer, agent, servant or employee of the County for the 
performance of any of the covenants and agreements of the County herein contained or for any 
claims based thereon except solely in their official capacity. 

Section 5.09 Assignment, Leases or Transfers 
 
The County agrees that the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates may at any time (a) 

transfer all or any of their rights and interests under this Fee Agreement or with respect to all or 
any part of the Project, or (b) enter into any lending, financing, leasing, security, or similar 
arrangement or succession of such arrangements with any financing or other entity with respect to 
this Fee Agreement or all or any part of the Project, including without limitation any sale-



18 

leaseback, equipment lease, build-to-suit lease, synthetic lease, nordic lease, defeased tax benefit 
or transfer lease, assignment, sublease or similar arrangement or succession of such arrangements, 
regardless of the identity of the income tax owner of such portion of the Project, whereby the 
transferee in any such arrangement leases the portion of the Project in question to the Company or 
any Sponsor Affiliate or operates such assets for the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate or is leasing 
the portion of the Project in question from the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate. In order to 
preserve the FILOT benefit afforded hereunder with respect to any portion of the Project so 
transferred, leased, financed, or otherwise affected: (i) except in connection with any transfer to 
an Affiliate of the Company or of any Sponsor Affiliate, or transfers, leases, or financing 
arrangements pursuant to clause (b) above (as to which such transfers the County hereby consents), 
the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates, as applicable, shall obtain the prior consent or 
subsequent ratification of the County, which consent or subsequent ratification may be granted by 
the County in its sole discretion as evidenced by any one of the following: (1) a letter or other 
writing executed by an authorized county representative, (2) a resolution passed by the County 
Council, or (3) an ordinance passed by the County Council following three readings and a public 
hearing; (ii) except when a financing entity which is the income tax owner of all or part of the 
Project is the transferee pursuant to clause (b) above and such financing entity assumes in writing 
the obligations of the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate, as the case may be, hereunder, or when 
the County consents in writing, no such transfer shall affect or reduce any of the obligations of the 
Company and any Sponsor Affiliates hereunder; (iii) to the extent the transferee or financing entity 
shall become obligated to make FILOT Payments hereunder, the transferee shall assume the then 
current basis of, as the case may be, the Company or any Sponsor Affiliates (or prior transferee) 
in the portion of the Project transferred; (iv) the Company or applicable Sponsor Affiliate, 
transferee or financing entity shall, within sixty (60) days thereof, furnish or cause to be furnished 
to the County and the Department a true and complete copy of any such transfer agreement; and 
(v) the Company, the Sponsor Affiliates and the transferee shall comply with all other requirements 
of the Transfer Provisions. 

 
Subject to County consent when required under this Section, and at the expense of the 

Company or any Sponsor Affiliate, as the case may be, the County agrees to take such further 
action or execute such further agreements, documents, and instruments as may be reasonably 
required to effectuate the assumption by any such transferee of all or part of the rights of the 
Company or such Sponsor Affiliate under this Fee Agreement and/or any release of the Company 
or such Sponsor Affiliate pursuant to this Section. 

Each of the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates acknowledges that such a transfer of an 
interest under this Fee Agreement or in the Project may cause all or part of the Project to become 
ineligible for the FILOT benefit afforded hereunder or result in penalties under the FILOT Act 
absent compliance by the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates with the Transfer Provisions. 

Section 5.10 Administration Expenses 

The Company will reimburse, or cause reimbursement to, the County for Administration 
Expenses related to this SSRC Agreement in the amount of $4,000, when and as they shall become 
due, but in no event later than the date which is the earlier of any payment date expressly provided 
for in this SSRC Agreement or the date which is forty-five (45) days after receiving written notice 
from the County, accompanied by such supporting documentation as may be necessary to evidence 



19 

the County’s or Indemnified Party’s right to receive such payment, specifying the nature of such 
expense and requesting payment of same. 

Section 5.11 Priority Lien Status 

The County’s right to receive FILOT Payments hereunder shall have a first priority lien 
status pursuant to Sections 12-44-90(E) and (F) of the FILOT Act and Chapters 4, 49, 51, 53, and 
54 of Title 12 of the Code. 

Section 5.12 Interest; Penalties 
 
In the event the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate should fail to make any of the payments 

to the County required under this Fee Agreement, then the item or installment so in default shall 
continue as an obligation of the Company or such Sponsor Affiliate until the Company or such 
Sponsor Affiliate shall have fully paid the amount, and the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates 
agree, as applicable, to pay the same with interest thereon at a rate, unless expressly provided 
otherwise herein and in the case of FILOT Payments, of 5% per annum, compounded monthly, to 
accrue from the date on which the payment was due and, in the case of FILOT Payments, at the 
rate for non-payment of ad valorem taxes under State law and subject to the penalties the law 
provides until payment. 

 
Section 5.13 Sponsor Affiliates 

The Company may designate from time to time any Sponsor Affiliates pursuant to the 
provisions of Sections 12-44-30(20) and 12-44-130 of the FILOT Act, which Sponsor Affiliates 
shall join with the Company and make investments with respect to the Project, or participate in the 
financing of such investments, and shall agree to be bound by the terms and provisions of this Fee 
Agreement pursuant to the terms of a written joinder agreement with the County and the Company, 
in form reasonably acceptable to the County. The Company shall provide the County and the 
Department with written notice of any Sponsor Affiliate designated pursuant to this Section within 
ninety (90) days after the end of the calendar year during which any such Sponsor Affiliate has 
placed in service any portion of the Project, in accordance with Section 12-44-130(B) of the FILOT 
Act. 

[End of Article V] 



20 

ARTICLE VI  
DEFAULT 

Section 6.01 Events of Default 

The following shall be “Events of Default” under this Fee Agreement, and the term “Event 
of Default” shall mean, whenever used with reference to this Fee Agreement, any one or more of 
the following occurrences: 

(a) Failure by the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate to make the FILOT Payments 
described in Section 4.01 hereof, or any other amounts payable to the County under this Fee 
Agreement when due, which failure shall not have been cured within thirty (30) days following 
receipt of written notice thereof from the County; provided, however, that the Company and any 
Sponsor Affiliates shall be entitled to all redemption rights granted by applicable statutes; or 

(b) A representation or warranty made by the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate 
hereunder which is deemed materially incorrect when deemed made; or 

(c) Failure by the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate to perform any of the terms, 
conditions, obligations, or covenants hereunder (other than those under (a) above), which failure 
shall continue for a period of thirty (30) days after written notice from the County to the Company 
and such Sponsor Affiliate specifying such failure and requesting that it be remedied, unless the 
Company or such Sponsor Affiliate shall have instituted corrective action within such time period 
and is diligently pursuing such action until the default is corrected, in which case the 30-day period 
shall be extended to cover such additional period during which the Company or such Sponsor 
Affiliate is diligently pursuing corrective action; or 

(d) Failure by the County to perform any of the terms, conditions, obligations, or 
covenants hereunder, which failure shall continue for a period of thirty (30) days after written 
notice from the Company to the County and any Sponsor Affiliates specifying such failure and 
requesting that it be remedied, unless the County shall have instituted corrective action within such 
time period and is diligently pursuing such action until the default is corrected, in which case the 
30-day period shall be extended to cover such additional period during which the County is 
diligently pursuing corrective action. 

Section 6.02 Remedies Upon Default 

(a) Whenever any Event of Default by the Company, or any Sponsor Affiliate, as the 
case may be (the “Defaulting Entity”), shall have occurred and shall be continuing, the County 
may take any one or more of the following remedial actions as to the Defaulting Entity, only: 

(i) terminate this Fee Agreement; or 

(ii) take whatever action at law or in equity may appear necessary or desirable 
to collect the amounts due hereunder. 

In no event shall the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate be liable to the County or otherwise 
for monetary damages resulting from the Company’s (together with any Sponsor Affiliates) failure 
to meet the Contract Minimum Investment Requirement other than as expressly set forth in this 
Fee Agreement. 



21 

In addition to all other remedies provided herein, the failure to make FILOT Payments shall 
give rise to a lien for tax purposes as provided in Section 12-44-90 of the FILOT Act. In this 
regard, and notwithstanding anything in this Fee Agreement to the contrary, the County may 
exercise the remedies that general law (including Title 12, Chapter 49 of the Code) provides with 
regard to the enforced collection of ad valorem taxes to collect any FILOT Payments due 
hereunder. 

(b) Whenever any Event of Default by the County shall have occurred or shall be 
continuing, the Company and any Sponsor Affiliate may take one or more of the following actions: 

(i) bring an action for specific enforcement; 

(ii) terminate this Fee Agreement as to the acting party; or 

(iii) in case of a materially incorrect representation or warranty, take such action 
as is appropriate, including legal action, to recover its damages, to the extent allowed by 
law. 

Section 6.03 Reimbursement of Legal Fees and Expenses and Other Expenses 

Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default hereunder by the Company or any Sponsor 
Affiliate, should the County be required to employ attorneys or incur other reasonable expenses 
for the collection of payments due hereunder or for the enforcement of performance or observance 
of any obligation or agreement, the County shall be entitled, within thirty (30) days of demand 
therefor, to reimbursement of the reasonable fees of such attorneys and such other reasonable 
expenses so incurred. 

Section 6.04 No Waiver 

No failure or delay on the part of any party hereto in exercising any right, power, or remedy 
hereunder shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single or partial exercise of any such 
right, power, or remedy preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other 
right, power, or remedy hereunder. No waiver of any provision hereof shall be effective unless the 
same shall be in writing and signed by the waiving party hereto. 

[End of Article VI] 



22 

ARTICLE VII 

MISCELLANEOUS 

Section 7.01 Notices 

Any notice, election, demand, request, or other communication to be provided under this 
Fee Agreement shall be effective when delivered to the party named below or when deposited with 
the United States Postal Service, certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid, 
addressed as follows (or addressed to such other address as any party shall have previously 
furnished in writing to the other party), except where the terms hereof require receipt rather than 
sending of any notice, in which case such provision shall control: 

If to the Company:  

EastGroup Properties, L.P. 
Attn: John Ratliff 
3495 Piedmont Road NE 
Building 11, Suite 350 
Atlanta, GA 30305 

With a copy, which shall not constitute notice, to:  
 
EastGroup Properties, L.P. 
Attn: Felisha Reddick 
4725 Entrance Drive, Ste G 
Charlotte, North Carolina 28273 

With a copy, which shall not constitute notice, to:  

Burr & Forman LLP 
Attn: John F. Wall IV 
1221 Main Street, Suite 1800 
Columbia, South Carolina 29201 
 
With a copy, which shall not constitute notice, to:  
 
FORVIS LLP 
Attn: Property Tax 
4350 Congress Street, Suite 900 
Charlotte, North Carolina 28209 

If to the County:  

Anderson County Administrator  
Attn: Rusty Burns 
Post Office Box 8002 
Anderson, South Carolina 29622 

 



23 

With a copy to:  

Anderson County Attorney 
Attn: Leon C. Harmon  
Post Office Box 8002 
Anderson, South Carolina 29622 
 

Section 7.02 Binding Effect 

This Fee Agreement and each document contemplated hereby or related hereto shall be 
binding upon and inure to the benefit of the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates, the County, and 
their respective successors and assigns. In the event of the dissolution of the County or the 
consolidation of any part of the County with any other political subdivision or the transfer of any 
rights of the County to any other such political subdivision, all of the covenants, stipulations, 
promises, and agreements of this Fee Agreement shall bind and inure to the benefit of the 
successors of the County from time to time and any entity, officer, board, commission, agency, or 
instrumentality to whom or to which any power or duty of the County has been transferred. 

Section 7.03 Counterparts 

This Fee Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, and all of the 
counterparts taken together shall be deemed to constitute one and the same instrument. 

Section 7.04 Governing Law 

This Fee Agreement and all documents executed in connection herewith shall be construed 
in accordance with and governed by the laws of the State. 

Section 7.05 Headings 

The headings of the articles and sections of this Fee Agreement are inserted for 
convenience only and shall not be deemed to constitute a part of this Fee Agreement. 

Section 7.06 Amendments 

The provisions of this Fee Agreement may only be modified or amended in writing by any 
agreement or agreements entered into between the parties. 

Section 7.07 Further Assurance 

From time to time, and at the expense of the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates, the 
County agrees to execute and deliver to the Company and any such Sponsor Affiliates such 
additional instruments as the Company or such Sponsor Affiliates may reasonably request and as 
are authorized by law and reasonably within the purposes and scope of the FILOT Act and this 
Fee Agreement to effectuate the purposes of this Fee Agreement. 

Section 7.08 Invalidity; Change in Laws 
 
In the event that the inclusion of property as Economic Development Property or any other 

issue is unclear under this Fee Agreement, the County hereby expresses its intention that the 
interpretation of this Fee Agreement shall be in a manner that provides for the broadest inclusion 
of property under the terms of this Fee Agreement and the maximum incentive permissible under 



24 

the FILOT Act, to the extent not inconsistent with any of the explicit terms hereof. If any provision 
of this Fee Agreement is declared illegal, invalid, or unenforceable for any reason, the remaining 
provisions hereof shall be unimpaired, and such illegal, invalid, or unenforceable provision shall 
be reformed to effectuate most closely the legal, valid, and enforceable intent thereof and so as to 
afford the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates with the maximum benefits to be derived herefrom, 
it being the intention of the County to offer the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates the strongest 
inducement possible, within the provisions of the FILOT Act, to locate the Project in the County. 
In case a change in the FILOT Act or South Carolina laws eliminates or reduces any of the 
restrictions or limitations applicable to the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates and the FILOT 
incentive, the parties agree that the County will give expedient and full consideration to 
reformation of this Fee Agreement, and, if the County Council so decides, to provide the Company 
and any Sponsor Affiliates with the benefits of such change in the FILOT Act or South Carolina 
laws. 
 
Section 7.09 Termination by Company 

The Company is authorized to terminate this Fee Agreement at any time with respect to all 
or part of the Project upon providing the County with thirty (30) days’ written notice; provided, 
however, that (i) any monetary obligations existing hereunder and due and owing at the time of 
termination to a party hereto (including without limitation any amounts owed with respect to 
Section 4.03 hereof); and (ii) any provisions which are intended to survive termination shall 
survive such termination. In the year following such termination, all property shall be subject to 
ad valorem taxation or such other taxation or fee in lieu of taxation that would apply absent this 
Fee Agreement. The Company’s obligation to make FILOT Payments under this Fee Agreement 
shall terminate in the year following the year of such termination pursuant to this section. 

Section 7.10 Entire Understanding 

This Fee Agreement expresses the entire understanding and all agreements of the parties 
hereto with each other, and neither party hereto has made or shall be bound by any agreement or 
any representation to the other party which is not expressly set forth in this Fee Agreement or in 
certificates delivered in connection with the execution and delivery hereof. 

Section 7.11 Waiver 

Either party may waive compliance by the other party with any term or condition of this 
Fee Agreement only in a writing signed by the waiving party. 

Section 7.12 Business Day 

In the event that any action, payment, or notice is, by the terms of this Fee Agreement, 
required to be taken, made, or given on any day which is a Saturday, Sunday, or legal holiday in 
the jurisdiction in which the person obligated to act is domiciled, such action, payment, or notice 
may be taken, made, or given on the following business day with the same effect as if given as 
required hereby, and no interest shall accrue in the interim. 

Section 7.13 Facsimile/Scanned Signatures 

The parties agree that use of a fax or scanned signature and the signatures, initials, and 
handwritten or typewritten modifications to any of the foregoing shall be deemed to be valid and 
binding upon the parties as if the original signature, initials and handwritten or typewritten 
modifications were present on the documents in the handwriting of each party. 



25 

 

Section 7.14 Distribution of FILOT Payment Revenue by County 

All FILOT Payment revenue received by the County for MCIP premises located in the 
County attributable to current MCIP property that is retained by the County after paying Greenville 
County its portion of such FILOT Payment revenue in accordance with the MCIP Agreement shall 
be distributed in accordance with Section 3 of Anderson County Ordinance 2010-026 and 
paragraph 7 of the MCIP Agreement. All FILOT Payment revenue received by the County for 
MCIP premises located in the County and attributable to MCIP property added on and after 
November 16, 2020 shall be distributed, net of Special Source Credits provided by the County 
pursuant to Section 4-1-175 (“Net Park Fees”) as follows: First, 15% of Net Park Fees shall be 
deposited to the Bond Fund created by Ordinance 2018-042 and used as required or permitted 
thereby, Second, 35% of Net Park Fees, and any surplus money under Ordinance 2018-042, shall 
be deposited to the Capital Renewal and Replacement Fund of the County, and Third, remaining 
Net Park Fees shall be disbursed to each of the taxing entities in the County which levy an old ad 
valorem property tax in any of the areas comprising the County’s portion of the MCIP in the same 
percentage as is equal to that taxing entity’s percentage of the millage rate (and proportion of 
operating and debt service millage) being levied in the current tax year for property tax purposes. 

[End of Article VII] 



26 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the County, acting by and through the County Council, has 
caused this Fee Agreement to be executed in its name and behalf by the Chairman of County 
Council and to be attested by the County Administrator and the Clerk of the County Council; and 
the Company has caused this Fee Agreement to be executed by its duly authorized officer, all as 
of the day and year first above written. 

ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 

(SEAL)     _______________________________ 
Tommy Dunn, Chairman 
Anderson County Council 

ATTEST: 

By: ____________________________________________ 
Rusty Burns, Administrator 
Anderson County, South Carolina 

By: ____________________________________________ 
Renee Watts, Clerk to Council 
Anderson County, South Carolina 

[Signature Page 1 to Fee in Lieu of Tax and Special Source Credit Agreement]  



27 

EASTGROUP PROPERTIES, L.P. 
 
_____________________________________ 
By:  _____________________________ 
Its: _____________________________ 

[Signature Page 2 to Fee in Lieu of Tax and Special Source Credit Agreement]



A-1 

EXHIBIT A 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION 
 

All that certain piece, parcel or tract of land with improvements thereon 
lying and being in Anderson County, South Carolina, designated as Lot 2, 
containing 15.623 acres, more or less, and being more particularly 
described on that certain Subdivision plan for Pelzer Point Commerce 
Center by Tru-Line Surveying Co., Inc., dated November 13, 2020 and 
recorded December 15, 2020, in Plat Book S2738, at Page 8, in the Register 
of Deeds for Anderson County, South Carolina. 
 
 
TMS No. 2180001038



B-1 
 

EXHIBIT B 

INVESTMENT CERTIFICATION 

I  ________ , the _________ of EastGroup Properties, L.P. (the “Company”), do hereby 
certify in connection with Section 4.03 of the Fee in Lieu of Tax and Special Source 
Credit Agreement dated as of February 20, 2024 between Anderson County, South Carolina 
and the Company (the “Agreement”), as follows: 

(1) The total investment made by the Company, together with all Sponsor Affiliates, 
in the Project during the calendar year ending December 31, 20__ was $_____________. 

(2) The cumulative total investment made by the Company, together with all 
Sponsor Affiliates, in the Project from the period beginning  , 20__ (that is, the 
beginning date of the Investment Period) and ending December 31, 20__, is $_________. 

All capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the meaning set forth in the 
Agreement. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have set my hand this _____ day of ____ , 20__. 

EASTGROUP PROPERTIES, L.P. 

 
Name: _____________________________   
Its: ________________________________ 



C-1 

EXHIBIT C 

INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT CERTIFICATION 

I  ________ , the _________ of EastGroup Properties, L.P. (the “Company”), do hereby 
certify in connection with Section 4.02 of the Fee in Lieu of Tax and Special Source 
Credit Agreement dated as of February 20, 2024 between Anderson County, South Carolina 
and the Company (the “Agreement”), as follows: 

(1) As of the date hereof, the aggregate amount of Special Source Credits previously 
received by the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates is $______________. 

(2) As of December 31, 20__, the aggregate amount of investment in costs of 
Infrastructure incurred by the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates during the Investment Period 
is not less than $_______________. 

(3) Of the total amount set forth in (2) above, $ _______  pertains to the investment in  
personal property, including machinery and equipment, at the Project. The applicable personal 
property, and associated expenditures, are listed below: 

Personal Property Description Investment Amount 

All capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the meaning set forth in the 
Agreement. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have set my hand this _____ day of ____ , 20__. 

EASTGROUP PROPERTIES, L.P. 

_______________________________________ 
Name: _________________________________ 
Its: ____________________________________   



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SPECIAL SOURCE CREDIT AGREEMENT 
 
 

between 
 
 

ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA, 
 
 

and 
 
 

EASTGROUP PROPERTIES, L.P., 
a Delaware Limited Partnership 

 
 
 

 
Dated as of February 20, 2024 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

SPECIAL SOURCE CREDIT AGREEMENT 
 

THIS SPECIAL SOURCE CREDIT AGREEMENT, dated as of February 20, 2024 (the 
“Agreement”), between ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA, a body politic and corporate and a 
political subdivision of the State of South Carolina (the “County”), and EASTGROUP PROPERTIES, 
L.P., formerly identified as PROJECT TURKEY, a limited partnership organized and existing under the 
laws of the State of Delaware (the “Company”). 

 
W I T N E S S E T H : 

 
WHEREAS, the County, acting by and through its County Council (the “County Council”) is 

authorized by Section 4-1-175 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as amended (the “Infrastructure 
Credit Act”), to provide infrastructure credit financing, secured by and payable solely from revenues of the 
County derived from payments in lieu of taxes pursuant to Article VIII, Section 13 of the South Carolina 
Constitution, for the purpose of defraying the cost of designing, acquiring, constructing, improving, or 
expanding the infrastructure serving the County and for improved and unimproved real estate and personal 
property, including machinery and equipment, used in the operation of a manufacturing facility or 
commercial enterprise in order to enhance the economic development of the County, all within the meaning 
of Section 4-29-68 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as amended (the “Infrastructure”); and 

WHEREAS, the Company will operate the Project (as defined below) on the land in the County 
described in Exhibit A hereto, owned by the Company (the “Land”); and 

WHEREAS, the Company has represented that they intend to invest in the acquisition, construction 
and installation of buildings, improvements, fixtures, machinery, equipment, furnishings and other real 
and/or tangible personal property to constitute a warehouse/distribution or manufacturing facility in the 
County (the “Project”), which will result in an expected aggregate investment of at least $23,200,000, by 
December 31 of the fifth (5th) year after the year in which any portion of the Project is first placed in service 
(the “Investment Period”); and 

WHEREAS, the County and Greenville County have established a joint county industrial and 
business park (the “Park”) by entering into an Agreement for the Development of a Joint County Industrial 
and Business Park (2010 Park) dated as of December 1, 2010, as amended (the “Park Agreement”), pursuant 
to the provisions of Article VIII, Section 13 of the South Carolina Constitution and Title 4, Chapter 1 Code of 
Laws of South Carolina 1976 (collectively, the “Multi-County Park Act”), as amended, and will designate the 
Land as being included within the Park, and the County desires to cause the Park to continue to be located in 
the Park or such other multi-county industrial and business park so as to afford the Company the benefits of 
the Infrastructure Credit Act as provided herein; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the provisions of the Park Agreement, the Company is obligated to make 
or cause to be made payments in lieu of taxes in the total amount equivalent to the ad valorem property taxes, 
or, if applicable, any negotiated payments in lieu of taxes pursuant to the Code of Laws of South Carolina 
1976, as amended, including Title 4, Chapter 29 thereof (the “FILOT Act”), that would have been due and 
payable but for the location of the Project within the Park; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Infrastructure Credit Act, the County has agreed to provide certain 
credits to the Company in respect of the Company’s investment in the Infrastructure with respect to the 
Project, and is delivering this Agreement in furtherance thereof; and 



 

2 

WHEREAS, the County Council has duly authorized execution and delivery of this Agreement by 
ordinance duly enacted by the County Council on February 20, 2024, following conducting a public hearing 
on February 20, 2024;  

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the respective representations and agreements hereinafter 
contained, the County and the Company agree as follows: 

ARTICLE I 

DEFINITIONS 

The terms defined in this Article I shall for all purposes of this Agreement have the meanings herein 
specified, unless the context clearly otherwise requires.  Except where the context otherwise requires, words 
importing the singular number shall include the plural number and vice versa.   

“Agreement” shall mean this Agreement, as the same may be amended, modified or supplemented in 
accordance with the terms hereof. 

“Code” shall mean the Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as amended. 

 “Company” shall have the meaning set forth with respect to such term in the recitals to this 
Agreement. 

“Cost of the Infrastructure” shall mean to extent permitted by law, the cost of acquiring, by 
construction and purchase, the Infrastructure and shall be deemed to include, whether incurred prior to or 
after the date of this Agreement:  (a) obligations incurred for labor, materials, and other expenses to builders 
and materialmen in connection with the acquisition, construction, and installation of the Infrastructure; (b) the 
cost of design and engineering of the Infrastructure; (c) the cost of construction bonds and of insurance of all 
kinds that may be required or necessary during the course of construction and installation of the 
Infrastructure, which is not paid by the contractor or contractors or otherwise provided for; (d) the expenses 
for test borings, surveys, test and pilot operations, estimates, plans and specifications and preliminary 
investigations therefor, and for supervising construction, as well as for the performance of all other duties 
required by or reasonably necessary in connection with the acquisition, construction, and installation of the 
Infrastructure; (e) all other costs which shall be required under the terms of any contract for the acquisition, 
construction, and installation of the Infrastructure; and (f) all legal, accounting and related costs properly 
capitalizable to the cost of the Infrastructure. 

“County” shall mean Anderson County, South Carolina, a body politic and corporate and a political 
subdivision of the State of South Carolina and its successors and assigns.  

“Fee Payments” shall mean the payments in lieu of taxes made by the Company with respect to the 
Project by virtue of the Project’s location in (a) the Park or (b) in any joint county industrial park created by 
the County and a partner county pursuant to the Park Agreement qualifying under Section 4-1-170 of the 
Multi-County Park Act or any successor provision. 

“FILOT Act” shall mean Title 4, Section 29, of the Code. 

“Infrastructure” shall mean infrastructure serving the County and improved or unimproved real 
estate and personal property, including machinery and equipment, used in the operation of the Project, within 
the meaning of Section 4-29-68 of the Code. 



 

3 

“Infrastructure Credit Act” shall have the meaning set forth with respect to such term in the recitals 
to this Agreement. 

“Infrastructure Credits” shall mean the credits to the Fee Payments in respect of the Company’s 
investment in Cost of the Infrastructure set forth in Section 3.02(a) hereof. 

“Investment Period” shall have the meaning set forth with respect to such term in the recitals to this 
Agreement. 

 “Investment Target” shall mean the investment by the Company of at least $23,200,000 in the 
Project. 

 “Land” shall have the meaning set forth with respect to such term in the recitals to this Agreement. 

“Multi-County Park Act” shall mean Title 4, Chapter 1 of the Code, and all future acts amendatory 
thereto. 

“Ordinance” shall mean the ordinance enacted by the County Council on February 20, 2024, 
authorizing the execution and delivery of this Agreement. 

“Park Agreement” shall mean the Agreement for Development of a Joint County Industrial and 
Business Park (2010 Park) dated as of December 1, 2010 between the County and Greenville County, South 
Carolina, as the same may be further amended or supplemented from time to time or such other agreement as 
the County may enter with respect to the Project to offer the benefits of the Infrastructure Credit Act to the 
Company hereunder. 

“Park” shall mean (i) the joint county industrial park established pursuant to the terms of the Park 
Agreement and (ii) any joint county industrial park created pursuant to a successor park agreement delivered 
by the County and a partner county in accordance with Section 4-1-170 of the Act, or any successor 
provision, with respect to the Project.  

“Person” shall mean an individual, a corporation, a partnership, an association, a joint stock 
company, a trust, any unincorporated organization, or a government or political subdivision. 

“Project” shall have the meaning set forth with respect to such term in the recitals to this Agreement. 

ARTICLE II 

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES 

SECTION 2.01.  Representations by the County.  The County makes the following representations 
and covenants as the basis for the undertakings on its part herein contained: 

(a) The County is a body politic and corporate and a political subdivision of the State of South 
Carolina and is authorized and empowered by the provisions of the Act to enter into the transactions 
contemplated by this Agreement and to carry out its obligations hereunder. By proper action by the County 
Council, the County has been duly authorized to execute and deliver this Agreement and any and all 
agreements collateral thereto. 

(b) The County proposes to provide the Infrastructure Credits to reimburse the Company for a 
portion of the Cost of the Infrastructure for the purpose of promoting economic development of the County. 



 

4 

(c) To the best knowledge of the undersigned representatives of the County, the County is not in 
violation of any of the provisions of the laws of the State of South Carolina, where any such default would 
affect the validity or enforceability of this Agreement. 

(d) To the best knowledge of the undersigned representatives of the County, the authorization, 
execution and delivery of this Agreement, the enactment of the Ordinance, and performance of the 
transactions contemplated hereby and thereby do not and will not, to the best knowledge of the County, 
conflict with, or result in the violation or breach of, or constitute a default or require any consent under, or 
create any lien, charge or encumbrance under the provisions of (i) the Constitution of the State or any law, 
rule, or regulation of any governmental authority, (ii) any agreement to which the County is a party, or (iii) 
any judgment, order, or decree to which the County is a party or by which it is bound.   

(e) To the best knowledge of the undersigned representatives of the County, there is no action, 
suit, proceeding, inquiry, or investigation, at law or in equity, or before or by any court, public body, or public 
board which is pending or threatened challenging the creation, organization or existence of the County or its 
governing body or the power of the County to enter into the transactions contemplated hereby or wherein an 
unfavorable decision, ruling or finding would adversely affect the transactions contemplated hereby or would 
affect the validity, or adversely affect the enforceability, of this Agreement, or any other agreement or 
instrument to which the County is a party and which is to be used in connection with or is contemplated by 
this Agreement, nor to the best of the knowledge of the undersigned representatives of the County is there 
any basis therefor. 

SECTION 2.02.  Representations and Covenants by the Company.  The Company makes the 
following representations, warranties and covenants as the basis for the undertakings on its part herein 
contained: 

(a) The Company is a limited partnership duly organized, validly existing, and in good standing 
under the laws of the State of Delaware and qualified to do business in the State of South Carolina, has power 
to enter into this Agreement and to carry out its obligations hereunder, and by proper corporate action has 
been duly authorized to execute and deliver this Agreement. 

(b) Neither the execution and delivery of this Agreement, the consummation of the transactions 
contemplated hereby, nor the fulfillment of or compliance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement, 
will result in a material breach of any of the terms, conditions, or provisions of any corporate restriction or 
any agreement or instrument to which the Company is now a party or by which it is bound, or will constitute 
a default under any of the foregoing, or result in the creation or imposition of any lien, charge, or 
encumbrance of any nature whatsoever upon any of the property or assets of the Company, other than as may 
be created or permitted by this Agreement. 

(c) The Company shall use commercially reasonable efforts to cause the Investment Target to 
be achieved during the Investment Period. 

(d) To the best knowledge of the Company, there is no action, suit, proceeding, inquiry, or 
investigation, at law or in equity, or before or by any court, public body, or public board which is pending or 
threatened challenging the power of the Company to enter into the transactions contemplated hereby or 
wherein an unfavorable decision, ruling or finding would adversely affect the transactions contemplated 
hereby or would affect the validity, or adversely affect the enforceability, of this Agreement, or any other 
agreement or instrument to which the Company is a party and which is to be used in connection with or is 
contemplated by this Agreement, nor to the best of the knowledge of the Company is there any basis 
therefore. 



 

5 

(e) The Company agrees to reimburse the County for all reasonable expenses, including 
attorney’s fees in the amount of $4,000 for the review of this Agreement and in the fulfillment of its 
obligations under this Agreement and in the implementation of its terms and provisions. 

(f) The Company agrees to maintain such books and records with respect to the Project as 
will permit verification of the Company’s compliance with the terms of this Agreement and the 
certifications submitted to the County pursuant to Section 3.02(c) hereof.  The Company may, by clear, 
written designation, conspicuously marked, designate with respect to any book and records delivered or 
made available to the County segments thereof that the Company believes contain proprietary, 
confidential, or trade secret matters.  The County shall comply with all reasonable, written requests made 
by the Company with respect to maintaining the confidentiality of such designated segments.  Except to 
the extent required by law, the County shall not release information which has been designated as 
confidential or proprietary by the Company.  

SECTION 2.03.  Covenants of the County. 

(a) To the best of its ability, the County will at all times maintain its corporate existence and will 
use its best efforts to maintain, preserve, and renew all its rights, powers and privileges; and it will comply 
with all valid acts, rules, regulations, orders, and directions of any legislative, executive, administrative, or 
judicial body applicable to this Agreement. 

(b) The County acknowledges that the Park Agreement will expire pursuant to its terms on 
December 1, 2040 (the “Original Termination Date”). In the event of any early termination of the Park 
Agreement or the termination of the Park Agreement on the Original Termination Date, the County agrees to 
use its best reasonable efforts to cause the Project, at the Company’s expense, pursuant to Section 4-1-170 of 
the Act or any successor provision, to be included in a duly authorized, executed and delivered successor 
joint county industrial park agreement with an adjoining South Carolina county, which successor agreement 
shall contain a termination date occurring no earlier than the final year as to which any Infrastructure Credit 
shall be payable under this Agreement. 

(c) The County covenants that it will from time to time, at the request and expense of the 
Company, execute and deliver such further instruments and take such further action as may be reasonable and 
as may be required to carry out the purpose of this Agreement; provided, however, that such instruments or 
actions shall never create or constitute a general obligation or an indebtedness of the County within the 
meaning of any State constitutional provision (other than the provisions of Article X, Section 14(10) of the 
South Carolina Constitution) or statutory limitation and shall never constitute or give rise to a pecuniary 
liability of the County or a charge against its general credit or taxing power or pledge the full faith, credit or 
taxing power of the State, or any other political subdivision of the State. 

ARTICLE III 

INFRASTRUCTURE CREDITS 
 
SECTION 3.01.  Payment of Costs of Infrastructure.   

The Company shall be responsible for payment of all Costs of the Infrastructure with respect to the 
Project as and when due.   

 

 



 

6 

SECTION 3.02.  Infrastructure Credits.   

(a) In order to reimburse the Company for a portion of the Cost of the Infrastructure with 
respect to the Project, commencing with the annual Fee Payment to be first payable on or before the January 
15th immediately following the year immediately following the first year in which any portion of the Project 
is first placed in service, the County shall provide to the Company Infrastructure Credits in an amount equal 
to forty-one percent (41%) of that portion of Fee Payments payable by the Company with respect to the 
Project (that is, with respect to investment made by the Company in the Project during the Investment 
Period), calculated and applied after payment of the amount due the non-host county under the Park 
Agreement for a period of thirty (30) consecutive years (the “Initial Infrastructure Credits”).  After applying 
the Initial Infrastructure Credits, the County shall also provide to the Company Infrastructure Credits (1) for a 
period of three (3) consecutive years in an amount equal to eighty-five percent (85%) and (2) for a period of 
twenty-seven (27) consecutive years in an amount equal to thirty-five percent (35%) of that portion of Fee 
Payments payable by the Company with respect to the Project (that is, with respect to investment made by the 
Company in the Project during the Investment Period), calculated and applied (1) after payment of the 
amount due the non-host county under the Park Agreement and (2) after payment of the Initial 
Infrastructure Credits. 

(b) Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, under no circumstances shall the Company 
be entitled to claim or receive any abatement of ad valorem taxes for any portion of the investment in the 
Project for which an Infrastructure Credit is taken. 

(c) In no event shall the aggregate amount of all Infrastructure Credits claimed by the Company 
exceed the amount expended by them collectively with respect to the Infrastructure at any point in time. The 
Company shall be responsible for making written annual certification as to compliance with the provisions of 
the preceding sentence through the delivery of a certification in substantially the form attached hereto as 
Exhibit B. Further, any amount of reimbursement of the Company for Infrastructure expenditure by way of 
an Infrastructure Credit may not be duplicated through an infrastructure credit to the Company for the same 
expenditure.  

(d) Should the Investment Target not be met by the end of the second year, any Infrastructure 
Credits otherwise payable under this Agreement for year 3 shall be reduced to thirty-five percent (35%) 
and the Infrastructure Credits shall remain at that level for years 4 through 30.  

(e) As provided in Section 4-29-68 of the Code, to the extent any Infrastructure Credit is taken 
against fee in lieu of tax payment on personal property, and the personal property is removed from the Project 
at any time during the term of this Agreement (and not replaced with qualifying replacement property), the 
amount of the fee in lieu of taxes due on the personal property for the year in which the personal property was 
removed from the Project shall be due for the two (2) years immediately following such removal.  

(f) THIS AGREEMENT AND THE INFRASTRUCTURE CREDITS BECOMING DUE 
HEREUNDER ARE LIMITED OBLIGATIONS OF THE COUNTY PROVIDED BY THE COUNTY 
SOLELY FROM THE FEE PAYMENTS RECEIVED BY THE COUNTY FOR THE PROJECT 
PURSUANT TO THE PARK AGREEMENT, AND DO NOT AND SHALL NEVER CONSTITUTE A 
GENERAL OBLIGATION OR AN INDEBTEDNESS OF THE COUNTY WITHIN THE MEANING OF 
ANY CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISION (OTHER THAN THE PROVISIONS OF ARTICLE X, 
SECTION 14(10) OF THE SOUTH CAROLINA CONSTITUTION) OR STATUTORY LIMITATION 
AND DO NOT AND SHALL NEVER CONSTITUTE OR GIVE RISE TO A PECUNIARY LIABILITY 
OF THE COUNTY OR A CHARGE AGAINST ITS GENERAL CREDIT OR TAXING POWER.  THE 
FULL FAITH, CREDIT, AND TAXING POWER OF THE COUNTY ARE NOT PLEDGED FOR THE 
INFRASTRUCTURE CREDITS. 



 

7 

(g) No breach by the County of this Agreement shall result in the imposition of any pecuniary 
liability upon the County or any charge upon its general credit or against its taxing power. The liability of the 
County under this Agreement or of any warranty herein included or for any breach or default by the County 
of any of the foregoing shall be limited solely and exclusively to the Fee Payments for the Project in the Park. 
The County shall not be required to execute or perform any of its duties, obligations, powers, or covenants 
hereunder except to the extent of the Fee Payments. 

ARTICLE IV 

CONDITIONS TO DELIVERY OF AGREEMENT; 
TITLE TO PROJECT 

SECTION 4.01.  Documents to be Provided by County.  Prior to or simultaneously with the 
execution and delivery of this Agreement, the County shall provide to the Company: 

(a) A copy of the Ordinance, duly certified by the Clerk of the County Council to have been 
duly enacted by the County and to be in full force and effect on the date of such certification; and 

(b) A copy of the Park Agreement, duly certified by the Clerk of the County Council to have 
been duly enacted by the County and to be in full force and effect on the date of such certification; and  

(c) Such additional related certificates, instruments or other documents as the Company may 
reasonably request in a form and substance acceptable to the Company and the County. 

SECTION 4.02.  Transfers of Project; Assignment of Interest in this Agreement by the Company. 
The County hereby acknowledges that the Company may from time to time and in accordance with 
applicable law, sell, transfer, lease, convey, or grant the right to occupy and use the Project, in whole or in 
part, or assign its interest in this Agreement, to others; provided, however, that any transfer by the Company 
of any of its interest in this Agreement to any other Person shall require the prior written consent of the 
County, which shall not be unreasonably withheld. No such sale, lease, conveyance, grant or assignment shall 
relieve the County from the County’s obligations to provide Infrastructure Credits to the Company or any 
assignee of the same, under this Agreement as long as such assignee is qualified to receive the Infrastructure 
Credits under the Infrastructure Credit Act. 

SECTION 4.03.  Assignment by County.  The County shall not assign, transfer, or convey its 
obligations to provide Infrastructure Credits hereunder to any other Person, except as may be required by 
South Carolina law. 

ARTICLE V 

DEFAULTS AND REMEDIES 

SECTION 5.01.  Events of Default.  If the County or the Company shall fail duly and punctually to 
perform any covenant, condition, agreement or provision contained in this Agreement on its part to be 
performed, which failure shall continue for a period of thirty (30) days after written notice by the County or 
the Company, respectively, specifying the failure and requesting that it be remedied is given to the County by 
the Company, or to the Company by the County, by first-class mail, the County or the Company, 
respectively, shall be in default under this Agreement (an “Event of Default”). 



 

8 

SECTION 5.02.  Remedies and Legal Proceedings by the Company or the County.  Upon the 
happening and continuance of any Event of Default, then and in every such case the Company or the County, 
as the case may be, in their discretion may: 

(a) by mandamus, or other suit, action, or proceeding at law or in equity, enforce all of its or 
their rights and require the other party to carry out any agreements with or for its benefit and to perform 
its or their duties under the Act and this Agreement; 

(b) bring suit upon this Agreement; 

(c) exercise any or all rights and remedies provided by applicable laws of the State of South 
Carolina; or 

(d) by action or suit in equity enjoin any acts or things which may be unlawful or in violation of 
its rights. 

SECTION 5.03.  Remedies Not Exclusive.  No remedy in this Agreement conferred upon or reserved 
to the County or the Company hereunder is intended to be exclusive of any other remedy or remedies, and 
each and every such remedy shall be cumulative and shall be in addition to every other remedy given under 
this Agreement or now or hereafter existing at law or in equity or by statute. 

SECTION 5.04.  Nonwaiver.  No delay or omission of the County or the Company to exercise any 
right or power accruing upon any default or Event of Default shall impair any such right or power or shall be 
construed to be a waiver of any such default or Event of Default, or an acquiescence therein; and every power 
and remedy given by this Article V to any party may be exercised from time to time and as often as may be 
deemed expedient. 

ARTICLE VI 

MISCELLANEOUS 

SECTION 6.01.  Termination.  Subject to Sections 5.01 and 5.02 above, this Agreement shall 
terminate on the date upon which all Infrastructure Credits provided for herein have been credited to the 
Company. 

SECTION 6.02.  Successors and Assigns.  All the covenants, stipulations, promises, and agreements 
in this Agreement contained, by or on behalf of, or for the benefit of, the County, shall bind or inure to the 
benefit of the successors of the County from time to time and any officer, board, commission, agency, or 
instrumentality to whom or to which any power or duty of the County, shall be transferred. 

SECTION 6.03.  Provisions of Agreement for Sole Benefit of the County and the Company.  Except 
as in this Agreement otherwise specifically provided, nothing in this Agreement expressed or implied is 
intended or shall be construed to confer upon any Person other than the County and the Company any right, 
remedy, or claim under or by reason of this Agreement, this Agreement being intended to be for the sole and 
exclusive benefit of the County and the Company. 

SECTION 6.04.  Severability.  In case any one or more of the provisions of this Agreement shall, for 
any reason, be held to be illegal or invalid, the illegality or invalidity shall not affect any other provision of 
this Agreement, and this Agreement, the Infrastructure Credits shall be construed and enforced as if the 
illegal or invalid provisions had not been contained herein or therein. 



 

9 

SECTION 6.05.  No Liability for Personnel of the County or the Company.  No covenant or 
agreement contained in this Agreement shall be deemed to be the covenant or agreement of any member, 
agent, or employee of the County or its governing body or the Company or any of its officers, employees, or 
agents in his individual capacity, and neither the members of the governing body of the County nor any 
official executing this Agreement shall be liable personally on the Infrastructure Credits or this Agreement or 
be subject to any personal liability of accountability by reason of the issuance thereof. 

SECTION 6.06.  Notices.  All notices, certificates, requests, or other communications under this 
Agreement shall be sufficiently given and shall be deemed given, unless otherwise required by this 
Agreement, when (i) delivered or (ii) sent by facsimile and confirmed by United States certified mail, return-
receipt requested, restricted delivery, postage prepaid, addressed as follows: 

(a) if to the County: Anderson County Administrator  
Attn: Rusty Burns 
Post Office Box 8002 
Anderson, South Carolina 29622 
     

 with a copy to: 
(which shall not 
constitute notice 
to the County)  

Anderson County Attorney 
Attn: Leon C. Harmon  
Post Office Box 8002 
Anderson, South Carolina 29622 
    
 

(b) if to the Company: EastGroup Properties, L.P. 
Attn: John Ratliff 
3495 Piedmont Road NE 
Building 11, Suite 350 
Atlanta, GA 30305    

  
with a copy to: 
(which shall not 
constitute notice 
to the Company) 
 
with a copy to: 
(which shall not 
constitute notice 
to the Company) 
 
with a copy to: 
(which shall not 
constitute notice 
to the Company) 
 

 
EastGroup Properties, L.P. 
Attn: Felisha Reddick 
4725 Entrance Drive, Ste G 
Charlotte, NC 28273 
 
Burr & Forman LLP 
Attn: John F. Wall IV 
1221 Main Street, Suite 1800 
Columbia, South Carolina 29201 
 
FORVIS LLP  
Attn: Property Tax 
4350 Congress Street, Suite 900 
Charlotte, NC 28209   

 
A duplicate copy of each notice, certificate, request or other communication given under this 

Agreement to the County or the Company shall also be given to the others. The County and the Company 
may, by notice given under this Section 6.06, designate any further or different addresses to which 
subsequent notices, certificates, requests or other communications shall be sent. 



 

10 

SECTION 6.07.  Applicable Law.  The laws of the State of South Carolina shall govern the 
construction of this Agreement. 

SECTION 6.08.  Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, 
each of which, when so executed and delivered, shall be an original; but such counterparts shall together 
constitute but one and the same instrument. 

SECTION 6.09.  Amendments.  This Agreement may be amended only by written agreement of the 
parties hereto. 

SECTION 6.10.  Waiver.  Either party may waive compliance by the other party with any term or 
condition of this Agreement only in a writing signed by the waiving party. 

SECTION 6.11.  Indemnity. 

(a) Notwithstanding the fact that it is the intention of the parties that the County, its 
members, officers, elected officials, employees, servants and agents (collectively, the “Indemnified 
Parties”) shall not incur pecuniary liability by reason of the terms of this Agreement, or the undertakings 
required of the County hereunder, by reason of the granting of the Infrastructure Credits, by reason of the 
execution of this Agreement, by the reason of the performance of any act requested of it by the Company, 
or by reason of the County’s relationship to the Project or by the operation of the Project by the 
Company, including all claims, liabilities or losses arising in connection with the violation of any statutes 
or regulations pertaining to the foregoing, nevertheless, if the County or any of the other Indemnified 
Parties should incur any such pecuniary liability, then in such event the Company shall indemnify, defend 
and hold them harmless against all claims by or on behalf of any person, firm or corporation, arising out 
of the same, and all costs and expenses incurred in connection with any such claim or in connection with 
any action or proceeding brought thereon, and upon notice, the Company shall defend them in any such 
action or proceeding with legal counsel acceptable to the County (the approval of which shall not be 
unreasonably withheld); provided, however, that such indemnity shall not apply to the extent that any 
such claim is proximately caused by (i) the grossly negligent acts or omissions or willful misconduct of 
the County, its agents, officers or employees, or (ii) any breach of this Agreement by the County. 

(b) Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, the above-referenced 
covenants insofar as they pertain to costs, damages, liabilities or claims by any Indemnified Party resulting 
from any of the above-described acts of or failure to act by the Company, shall survive any termination of 
this Agreement. 
 
 
 

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank] 



 

11 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the County, acting by and through the County Council, has caused this 
Special Source Credit Agreement to be executed in its name and behalf by the Chairman of County Council 
and to be attested by the County Administrator and the Clerk of the County Council; and the Company has 
caused this Special Source Credit Agreement to be executed by its duly authorized officer, all as of the day 
and year first above written.. 

 ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
 
(SEAL) _______________________________________ 
 Tommy Dunn, Chairman 
 Anderson County Council 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
By: ____________________________________________ 

Rusty Burns, Administrator 
Anderson County, South Carolina 

 
By: ____________________________________________ 

Renee Watts, Clerk to Council 
Anderson County, South Carolina 

 
 
 
 

[Signature page 1 to Special Source Credit Agreement] 



 

12 

 
     EASTGROUP PROPERTIES, L.P. 
 
 
     By:_______________________________________ 
     Name:__________________________________ 
     Title:___________________________________ 
 
 
 
 

[Signature page 2 to Special Source Credit Agreement] 
 



 

A-1 

EXHIBIT A 

REAL PROPERTY DESCRIPTION  
 
All that certain piece, parcel or tract of land with improvements thereon lying and being in Anderson 
County, South Carolina, designated as Lot 1, containing 12.842 acres, more or less, and being more 
particularly described on that certain Subdivision plat for Pelzer Point Commerce Center by Tru-Line 
Surveying Co., Inc., dated November 13, 2020 and recorded December 15, 2020, in Plat Book S2738, 
Page 8, in the Register of Deeds for Anderson County, South Carolina. 
 
TMS No. 2180001001 
 
 
 



 

B-1 

EXHIBIT B 

INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT CERTIFICATION 
 
 
 I ________________, the _____________ of EastGroup Properties, L.P. (the “Company”), do 
hereby certify in connection with the Special Source Credit Agreement dated as of February 20, 2024 (the 
“Agreement”) between Anderson County, South Carolina and EastGroup Properties, L.P. (the “Company”), 
as follows: 
 

(1) As of December 31, 20__, the total amount of Infrastructure Credits received by the 
Company is as follows: 

(a)  $ 
   
(c) Total Infrastructure Credits received $ 

 

(2) As of December 31, 20__, the total amount of investment in Costs of Infrastructure by the 
Company is not less than $__________. 

 All capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the meaning set forth in the Agreement. 

 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have set my hand this _____ day of __________, 20__. 
 
 EASTGROUP PROPERTIES, L.P. 
 
 
 By:_______________________________________ 
 Name:___________________________________ 
 Its:______________________________________ 
 
 

 

 
 



ORDINANCE NO. 2024-007 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND AN AGREEMENT FOR THE DEVELOPMENT OF 
A JOINT COUNTY INDUSTRIAL AND BUSINESS PARK (2010 PARK) OF 
ANDERSON AND GREENVILLE COUNTIES SO AS TO ENLARGE THE PARK 
TO INCLUDE CERTAIN PROPERTY OF EASTGROUP PROPERTIES, L.P.; 
AND OTHER MATTERS RELATED THERETO. 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Ordinance 2010-026 enacted November 16, 2010 by Anderson 
County Council, Anderson County entered into an Agreement for the Development of a Joint 
County Industrial and Business Park (2010 Park) dated as of December 1, 2010, as amended, with 
Greenville County (the “Agreement”); and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 3(A) of the Agreement, the boundaries of the park created 
therein (the “Park”) may be enlarged pursuant to ordinances of the County Councils of Anderson 
County and Greenville County; and 

WHEREAS, in connection with certain incentives being offered by Anderson County to 
EastGroup Properties, L.P., it is now desired that the boundaries of the Park be enlarged to include 
certain parcels in Anderson County; 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, be it ordained by Anderson County Council that Exhibit B to the 
Agreement is hereby and shall be amended and revised to include the property located in Anderson 
County described in the schedule attached to this Ordinance, and, pursuant to Sections 3(A) and 
3(B) of the Agreement, upon adoption by Greenville County Council of a corresponding ordinance, 
the Agreement shall be deemed amended to so include such property and Exhibit B as so revised, 
without further action by either county. 

 
ORDAINED in meeting duly assembled this 20th day of February 2024.  
 

      ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
 
        ________________________________________ 
        Tommy Dunn, Chairman of County Council 
ATTEST:        
 
___________________________________ 
Rusty Burns 
Anderson County Administrator 
 
____________________________________ 
Renee Watts 
Clerk to County Council 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
___________________________________ 
Leon C. Harmon 
Anderson County Attorney 



 
First Reading:   January 16, 2024 
Second Reading: February 6, 2024  
Public Hearing: February 20, 2024 
Third Reading:   February 20, 2024 
 

 



Addition to Exhibit B to  
Agreement for the Development of a Joint County Industrial and  

Business Park effective as of December 1, 2010, as amended,  
between Anderson County and Greenville County 

 
Project Turkey (EastGroup Properties, L.P.) Property Description 

 
All that certain piece, parcel or tract of land with improvements thereon lying and 
being in Anderson County, South Carolina, designated as Lot 1, containing 12.842 
acres, more or less, and being more particularly described on that certain Subdivision 
plat for Pelzer Point Commerce Center by Tru-Line Surveying Co., Inc., dated 
November 13, 2020 and recorded December 15, 2020, in Plat Book S2738, Page 8, 
in the Register of Deeds for Anderson County, South Carolina. 
 
TMS No. 2180001001 
 
All that certain piece, parcel or tract of land with improvements thereon lying 
and being in Anderson County, South Carolina, designated as Lot 2, containing 
15.623 acres, more or less, and being more particularly described on that certain 
Subdivision plan for Pelzer Point Commerce Center by Tru-Line Surveying Co., 
Inc., dated November 13, 2020 and recorded December 15, 2020, in Plat Book 
S2738, at Page 8, in the Register of Deeds for Anderson County, South 
Carolina. 
 
TMS No. 2180001038 



STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ) 
) 

COUNTY OF ANDERSON ) 

I, the undersigned Clerk to County Council of Anderson County, South Carolina, do hereby certify 
that attached hereto is a true, accurate and complete copy of an ordinance which was given reading, and 
received majority approval, by the County Council at meetings of January 16, 2024, February 6, 2024 and 
February 20, 2024, at which meetings a quorum of members of County Council were present and voted, 
and an original of which ordinance is filed in the permanent records of the County Council. 

 
 
Renee D. Watts, Clerk to County Council, Anderson 
County, South Carolina 

Dated: ________, 2024

 



ORDINANCE NO. 2024-008 
 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND SECTION 24-335 OF THE ANDERSON COUNTY, 
SOUTH CAROLINA, CODE OF ORDINANCES TO ADD AN ADDITIONAL 
SUBSECTION CONCERNING THE EFFECT OF AN APPEAL OF A PLANNING 
COMMISSION DECISION ON A SUBSEQUENT PRELIMINARY PLAT SUBMISSION; 
AND OTHER MATTERS RELATED THERETO. 
 
 WHEREAS, the Anderson County, South Carolina, Code of Ordinances, Chapter 24 does 
not presently address the effect of an appeal of a Planning Commission decision on a preliminary 
plat upon an amended or corrected preliminary plat submitted for approval by the Planning 
Commission;  
 
 WHEREAS, the Anderson County Council desires to provide for the effective and 
efficient operation of the Planning Commission; 
 
 WHEREAS, the Anderson County Council desires to amend section 24-335 of the Code 
of Ordinances to address the above stated issue. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, be it ordained by the Anderson County Council in meeting duly 
assembled that: 
 
 1. The Code of Ordinances, Anderson County, South Carolina, is hereby amended by 
adding a section to be numbered 24-335 (6), which section reads as follows: 
 
 24-335 (6) 
 

If an amended or corrected preliminary plat or a new preliminary plat is submitted 
for consideration for approval by the Planning Commission on the same or a portion 
of the same project site during the pendency of an appeal from a prior Planning 
Commission decision to deny before the Circuit Court, the South Carolina Court of 
Appeals, or the South Carolina Supreme Court, the Planning Commission shall not 
consider the submission and it shall be returned to the applicant. 
 
2. The remaining terms and provisions of the Anderson County Code of Ordinances 

not revised or affected hereby remain in full force and effect. 
  
 3. Should any part or provision of this Ordinance be deemed unconstitutional or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such determination shall not affect the 
remainder of this Ordinance, all of which is hereby deemed separable. 
   

4. All Ordinances, Orders, Resolutions, and actions of Anderson County Council 
inconsistent herewith are, to the extent of such inconsistency only, hereby repealed, revoked, and 
rescinded. 
  

 



5. This ordinance shall take effect and be in full force upon the Third Reading and 
Enactment by Anderson County Council. 

 
ORDAINED in meeting duly assembled this _________ day of ________, 2024. 
 

ATTEST:          FOR ANDERSON COUNTY: 
 
 

Rusty Burns      Tommy Dunn, District #5, Chairman 
Anderson County Administrator 
 
 

Renee D. Watts 
Clerk to Council 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
Leon C. Harmon 
Anderson County Attorney 

1st Reading: January 16, 2024 

2nd Reading:  February 6, 2024 

3rd Reading:  February 20, 2024 

Public Hearing: February 20, 2024 
 



  
 

NPDocuments:62076466.1  

ORDINANCE NO. 2024-002 
 
 AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND AN AGREEMENT FOR THE DEVELOPMENT 

OF A JOINT COUNTY INDUSTRIAL AND BUSINESS PARK (2010 PARK) OF 
ANDERSON AND GREENVILLE COUNTIES SO AS TO ENLARGE THE PARK 
(PROJECT COLORFUL). 

 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to Ordinance No. 2010-026 enacted October 19, 2010 by Anderson County 
Council, Anderson County entered into an Agreement for the Development of a Joint County Industrial and 
Business Park (2010 Park) dated as of December 1, 2010, as amended, with Greenville County (the 
“Agreement”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 3(A) of the Agreement, the boundaries of the park created therein 
(the “Park”) may be enlarged pursuant to ordinances of the County Councils of Anderson County and 
Greenville County; and 
 

WHEREAS, in connection with certain incentives being offered by Anderson County, it is now 
desired that the boundaries of the Park be enlarged to include certain parcel(s) in Anderson County; 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, be it ordained by Anderson County Council that Exhibit B to the 
Agreement is hereby and shall be amended and revised to include property located in Anderson County 
described in the schedule attached to this Ordinance, and, pursuant to Section 3(B) of the Agreement, upon 
adoption by Greenville County of a corresponding ordinance, the Agreement shall be deemed amended to 
so include such property and Exhibit B as so revised, without further action by either county. 
 
 ORDAINED in meeting duly assembled this _____ day of _____________, 2024.  
 
 
ATTEST:      FOR ANDERSON COUNTY: 
 
___________________________                                         ______________________________________ 
Rusty Burns                                                                            Tommy Dunn, District #5, Chairman 
Anderson County Administrator                                         
 
 
___________________________ 
Renee D. Watts 
Clerk to Council 
 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
___________________________ 
Leon C. Harmon 
Anderson County Attorney 
 



NPDocuments:62076466.1  

  

First Reading: February 6, 2024 
Second Reading: February 20, 2024 
Third Reading:        
Public Hearing:        



B-1 
NPDocuments:62076466.1  

Addition to Exhibit B to 
Agreement for the Development of a Joint County Industrial and 

Business Park dated as of December 1, 2010, as amended, 
between Anderson County and Greenville County 

 
APG Colors and Additives, LLC and Green Lantern LLC (Project Colorful) 
 
ALL THAT CERTAIN piece, parcel or tract of land, situate, lying and being in Belton Township, County of 
Anderson, State of South Carolina, containing 25. 76 acres as shown on a plat of survey entitled "Survey for 
Mohawk Carpet Corporation & Mohawk Industries, Inc., near Belton", prepared by Arcadis Geraghty & 
Miller, dated July 9, 1993, last revised September 23, 1999, and recorded in the Office of the Register of 
Deeds for Anderson County in Slide 1059 at Page 3, and having, according to said plat the following metes 
and bounds, to-wit:  
 
Beginning at a point at the intersection of the northern edge of the right-of-way of South Carolina Secondary 
Road S4-29 and the northeastern right-of-way of Old Southern Railway System; thence running with the 
right-of-way of Old Southern Railway System, N 38-13-12 W 1,473.53 feet to a point at the joint line with 
the 43.98 acre tract; thence turning and running with the said joint line, N 51-46-20 E 651.20 feet to an old 
iron pin; thence S 38-13- 33 E 466.70 feet to an iron pin; thence N 45-28-06 E 104.86 feet to an iron pin; 
thence running N 59-28-51 E 163.41 feet to an iron pin; thence turning and running S 37-54-49 E 169.10 
feet to an iron pin; thence turning and running S 50-16-46 W 265.24 feet to an iron pin; thence turning and 
running S 38-14-11 E 639.10 feet to an iron pin; thence turning and running with property now or formerly 
of James J. Callaham and Walter L. Callaham, S 00-16-54 E 41.4 feet to an iron pin; thence running with 
property now or formerly of Walter L. Callaham, S 00-42-58 E 780.99 feet to an iron pin in the center of the 
right-of-way of South Carolina Secondary Road S4-29; thence turning and running with the center line of 
the right-of-way of South Carolina Secondary Road S4-29, N 56-49-56 W 181.86 feet to an iron pin; thence 
running with the right-of-way of South Carolina Secondary Road S4-29, N 63-01-00 W 220.84 feet to an 
iron pin; thence running N 38-13-12 W 97.87 feet to an iron pin, being the Point of Beginning. 
 
ALSO:  
 
ALL THAT CERTAIN piece, parcel or tract of land, situate, lying and being in Belton Township, County of 
Anderson, State of South Carolina, containing 1.33 acres as shown on a plat of survey entitled "Survey for 
Mohawk Carpet Corporation & Mohawk Industries, Inc., near Belton", prepared by Arcadis Geraghty & 
Miller, dated July 9, 1993, last revised September 23, 1999, and recorded in the Office of the Register of 
Deeds for Anderson County in Slide l 059 at Page 3, and having, according to said plat, the following metes 
and bounds, to-wit:  
 
Beginning at an iron pin in the center of the right-of-way of South Carolina Secondary Road S4-29 and the 
northeasterly edge of the right-of-way of Old Southern Railway System; thence running with the 
northeasterly edge of the right-of-way of Old Southern Railway System, N 38-13-12 W 1970.8 feet to an 
iron pin at the joint line of property now or formerly of J.E. Ellison; thence turning and running S 27-15-00 
E 32.9 feet to an iron pin in the center of the right-of-way of Old Southern Railway System; thence turning 
and running with the center line of the right-of-way of Southern Railway System, S 38-13-12 E 1892.60 feet 
to a point; thence turning and running S 63-01-00 E 71.30 feet to an iron pin in the center of right-of-way of 
South Carolina Secondary Road S4-29, being the Point of Beginning.  
 



B-2 
NPDocuments:62076466.1  

DERIVATION: This being the same property conveyed to Southern Warehouse Associates, LLC by deed 
from Allen S. Beck dated September 12, 2002 and recorded September 13, 2002 in Deed Book 4958, page 
5, Anderson County Records. 
 
TMS # 223-00-10-015 



NPDocuments:62076466.1  

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  ) 
      ) 
COUNTY OF ANDERSON    ) 
 
 I, the undersigned Clerk to County Council of Anderson County, South Carolina, do hereby 
certify (i) that attached hereto is a true, accurate and complete copy of an ordinance which was given 
reading, and received majority approval, by the County Council at meetings of___________, 2024, 
__________, 2024 and __________, 2024, at which meetings a quorum of members of County Council 
were present and voted, and an original of which ordinance is filed in the permanent records of the 
County Council; and (ii) the public hearing for the attached ordinance was conducted by County Council 
at the County Council meeting of __________, 2024.   
 
 
      _________________________________________ 
      Clerk, Anderson County Council 
 
 
Dated: __________, 2024 



 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2024-009 
 
 AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND AN AGREEMENT FOR THE DEVELOPMENT OF 

A JOINT COUNTY INDUSTRIAL AND BUSINESS PARK (2010 PARK) OF 
ANDERSON AND GREENVILLE COUNTIES SO AS TO ENLARGE THE PARK. 

 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to Ordinance No. 2010-026 enacted October 19, 2010 by Anderson County 
Council, Anderson County entered into an Agreement for the Development of a Joint County Industrial and 
Business Park (2010 Park) dated as of December 1, 2010, as amended, with Greenville County (the 
“Agreement”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 3(A) of the Agreement, the boundaries of the park created therein 
(the “Park”) may be enlarged pursuant to ordinances of the County Councils of Anderson County and 
Greenville County; and 
 
 WHEREAS, in connection with certain incentives being offered by Anderson County pursuant to 
that certain Fee in Lieu of Tax and Incentive Agreement by and between parties including Anderson County 
and FedEx Ground Package System, Inc. dated as of May 17, 2022 (“Effective Date”), it is now desired that 
the boundaries of the Park be enlarged to include certain parcels in Anderson County as of the Effective Date;  
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, be it ordained by Anderson County Council that Exhibit A to the Agreement 
is hereby and shall be amended and revised to include property located in Anderson County described in the 
schedule attached to this Ordinance, and, pursuant to Section 3(B) of the Agreement, upon adoption by 
Greenville County of a corresponding ordinance, the Agreement shall be deemed amended as of the Effective 
Date to so include such property and Exhibit A as so revised, without further action by either county. 
 
  

ORDAINED in meeting duly assembled this _____ day of _____________, 2024. 
  

 
 
ATTEST:          FOR ANDERSON COUNTY: 
 
 

Rusty Burns       Tommy Dunn, District #5, Chairman 
Anderson County Administrator 
 
 
 
 
 

Renee D. Watts 
Clerk to Council 
 
 
 



 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
Leon C. Harmon 
Anderson County Attorney 

 

1st Reading: February 6, 2024 

2nd Reading: February 20, 2024 

3rd Reading:___________________ 

Public Hearing:________________ 
 

   

 
 
 
 
 
 



A-1 

Addition to Exhibit A to 
Agreement for the Development of a Joint County Industrial and 

Business Park dated as of December 1, 2010, as amended, 
between Anderson County and Greenville County 

 
 

 
FedEx Ground Package System Project Property 

 
 

 



 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  ) 
      ) 
COUNTY OF ANDERSON    ) 
 
 I, the undersigned Clerk to County Council of Anderson County, South Carolina, do hereby certify 
(i) that attached hereto is a true, accurate and complete copy of an ordinance which was given reading, and 
received majority approval, by the County Council at meetings of ____________, 20____, ____________, 
20___ and __________________, 20____, at which meetings a quorum of members of County Council were 
present and voted, and an original of which ordinance is filed in the permanent records of the County Council; 
and (ii) the public hearing for the attached ordinance was conducted by County Council at the County Council 
meeting of _______________, 20___.   
 
 
      _________________________________________ 
      Renee D. Watts, Clerk, Anderson County Council 
 
 
Dated: ________________, 20____ 
 



ORDINANCE NO.:2024-010 
 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND SECTION 28-48 OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES, 
ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA, TO PROVIDE FOR TWO AT-LARGE 
MEMBERS TO THE ANDERSON COUNTY LIBRARY BOARD OF TRUSTEES; AND 
OTHER MATTERS RELATED THERETO. 
 
 WHEREAS, in accordance with the requirement of Section 4-9-33(A) of the Code of Laws 
of South Carolina 1976, as amended, the Anderson County Council established a county public 
library system; 
 
 WHEREAS, Section 4-9-33(B)  of the Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as amended,  
provides that each county public library system shall be controlled and managed by a board of 
trustees consisting of not fewer than seven nor more than eleven members appointed by the county 
council for terms of four years; 
 
 WHEREAS, Section 28-48 of the Code of Ordinances, Anderson County, South Carolina 
provides for a county library board of trustees consisting of seven members; and  
 
 WHEREAS, the Anderson County Council desires to increase the number of the county 
library board of trustees to nine by adding two at-large members to the board of trustees. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, be it ORDAINED by the Anderson County Council in meeting 
duly assembled that: 
 
 1. Section 28-48. Created; Members. 
 

The county library system shall be managed by a board of trustees consisting of 
nine members, with one appointment per council district and two at-large members 
to be appointed by the county council.  Each trustee, once appointed, shall serve a 
four-year term until successors are appointed and qualified.  Vacancies shall be 
filled in the manner of original appointment for the unexpired term. 
 

 2. The remaining terms and provisions of the Anderson County Code of 
Ordinances not revised or affected hereby remain in full force and effect. 

 
 3. Should any part or provision of this Ordinance be deemed unconstitutional or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such determination shall not affect the 
remainder of this Ordinance, all of which is hereby deemed separable. 
 
 4. This ordinance shall take effect and be in full force upon the Third Reading and 
Enactment by Anderson County Council. 
 
 
 
 



ORDAINED in meeting duly assembled this _________ day of ________, 2024. 
 
 
ATTEST:          FOR ANDERSON COUNTY: 
 
 

Rusty Burns      Tommy Dunn, District #5, Chairman 
Anderson County Administrator 
 
 

Renee D. Watts 
Clerk to Council 
 
 
 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
Leon C. Harmon 
Anderson County Attorney 

1st Reading: February 6, 2024 

2nd Reading: February 20, 2024 

3rd Reading:___________________ 

Public Hearing:________________ 
 

 



ORDINANCE NO. 2024-005 

AN ORDINANCE TO LEASE REAL PROPERTY TO HOPE MISSIONS OF THE 
UPSTATE; AND OTHER MATTERS RELATED THERETO.  

WHEREAS, the Anderson County Code requires a public hearing prior to the lease of 
real property; and 

 WHEREAS, Anderson County is the current owner of a parcel of land located at 213 S 
Towers Street in the City of Anderson and identified by tax map number 123-30-15-001; and 

 WHEREAS, HOPE Missions of the Upstate, is a South Carolina nonprofit corporation 
registered with the State of South Carolina; and  

 WHEREAS, the property referenced will be used by HOPE Missions of the Upstate for 
the purpose of operating as a nonprofit corporation.    

NOW, THEREFORE, be it ordained by the Anderson County Council in meeting duly 
assembled that: 

1.  Anderson County desires to lease the following real property to HOPE Missions of the 
Upstate for a nominal fee: 

 a. A portion of a building on land situated at 213 S. Towers Street, Anderson, South   
    Carolina 29624; TMS No. 123-30-15-001.  
 
2. The Anderson County Administrator is hereby authorized and directed to execute any 
documents necessary to effectuate the lease of this parcel of real property as described herein and 
in a form substantially similar to, and not materially different from, the lease agreement attached 
hereto as Exhibit A. 
 
3. All other terms, provisions, sections, and contents of the Code of Ordinances, Anderson 
County, South Carolina not specifically affected hereby remain in full force and effect. 
 
4. Should any part or provision of this Ordinance be deemed unconstitutional or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such determination shall not affect the 
remainder of this Ordinance, all of which is hereby deemed separable. 
 
5. This Ordinance shall take effect from and after the public hearing and the third reading in 
accordance with the Code of Ordinances, Anderson County, South Carolina. 

 
ORDAINED in meeting duly assembled this _________ day of ________, 2024. 
 
 
 

[SIGNATURE PAGE TO FOLLOW] 
 



 
ATTEST:          FOR ANDERSON COUNTY: 
 

Rusty Burns      Tommy Dunn, District #5, Chairman 
Anderson County Administrator 
                                                                           
 
 
Renee Watts 
Clerk to Council 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
Leon C. Harmon 
Anderson County Attorney 
 
 
 
First Reading: _________________ 
Second Reading: _______________ 
Third Reading:  ________________ 
 
Public Hearing: ________________ 
 
 



 
 
 
 
 
 
STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ) 

)  GROUND LEASE AGREEMENT 
COUNTY OF ANDERSON  )   

This Ground Lease Agreement, effective as of January 1, 2024 (“Ground Lease”), by and between 
ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA, a body politic and corporate and a political subdivision 
of the State of South Carolina (“Ground Lessor”) and HOPE Missions of the Upstate, a South Carolina 
nonprofit corporation. (“Ground Lessee”). 

RECITALS: 

WHEREAS, Ground Lessor desires to lease to Ground Lessee and Ground Lessee desires to lease from 
Ground Lessor the entire main floor of the building to provide office space for Ground Lessee; 

WHEREAS, Ground Lessor and Ground Lessee desire that that the office space be located on one or 
more parcels of real property owned by Ground Lessor, as more fully described on Exhibit A and more 
fully depicted on Exhibit B, each of which is attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference 
(collectively, “Demised Premises”); 

WHEREAS, Ground Lessor and Ground Lessee desire to establish the terms and conditions of this 
Ground Lease to fulfill the foregoing objectives. 

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and promises of the parties, the receipt 
and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto agree that the foregoing recitals are 
true and correct and incorporated herein by this reference, and further agree as follows: 

WITNESSETH: 

Section 1. Premises. In exchange for (a) Ground Lessee’s remittance to Ground Lessor of $1.00 per 
year, to be paid on the effective date of this Ground Lease. , (b) Ground Lessee’s use of its funds to pay for 
Office space, (c) the mutual covenants and agreements herein contained, and (d) other good and valuable 
consideration, the receipt and legal sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged by the parties hereto, 
Ground Lessor hereby demises and rents unto Ground Lessee, and Ground Lessee here by rents and hires 
from Ground Lessor, the Demised Premises. 

The following additional stipulations, hereby declared to be conditions of this Ground Lease, shall, 
unless otherwise expressly stated, be applicable at all times throughout the term of this Ground Lease and 
are mutually agreed upon by the parties. 

Section 2. Management and Operation of Office space. The costs of office space shall be borne 
solely by Ground Lessee. Ground Lessee covenants and agrees to comply or cause compliance with all 
laws, ordinances, municipal rules, and regulations and requirements of public authorities applying to or 
affecting the conduct of any construction related to the office space. Ground Lessee shall pay to Ground 
Lessor 25% of all building utilities (electricity, water, sewer) within 10 days 0f receiving an invoice from 
the Ground Lessor.  The Ground Lessee is responsible for its telephone and internet services.    

Section 3. Term of Ground Lease. The term of this Ground Lease shall be for the period beginning 
January 1, 2024 and ending on December 31, 2024. 



 

Section 4. Authority. Ground Lessor and Ground Lessee each represent and warrant they have full 
power and authority to execute and enter into this Ground Lease for the full term herein granted under the 
terms and conditions provided herein and that this Ground Lease is a valid and binding obligation of each 
of them enforceable in accordance with its terms 

Section 5. Quiet Enjoyment. Ground Lessor covenants that Ground Lessee, on the performance of the 
terms and conditions of this Ground Lease, shall and may peaceably and quietly have, hold and enjoy the 
Demised Premises for the full term of this Ground Lease. 

Section 6. No Partnership or Joint Venture. Under no circumstances shall Ground Lessor and 
Ground Lessee be deemed or held to be partners or joint ventures in or concerning the Demised Premises. 

Section 7. Condition of Demised Premises and Disclaimer of Liability. The Demised Premises is 
leased in a “WHERE IS, AS IS” condition. Ground Lessor makes no representation or warranty, express or 
implied, as to the condition of the Demised Premises and expressly disclaims same. 

GROUND LESSOR HEREBY DISCLAIMS, AND GROUND LESSEE HEREBY RELEASES 
GROUND LESSOR AS WELL AS ITS COUNCIL MEMBERS, OFFICERS, EMPLOYEES AGENTS, 
SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS FROM, ANY AND ALL LIABILITY, WHETHER IN CONTRACT OR 
TORT (INCLUDING STRICT LIABILITY AND NEGLIGENCE) FOR ANY LOSS, DAMAGE OR 
INJURY OF ANY NATURE WHATSOEVER SUSTAINED BY GROUND LESSEE, ITS EMPLOYEES, 
AGENTS, CONTRACTORS, LICENSEES OR INVITEES ARISING OUT OF, OR RELATED IN ANY 
MANNER TO, THIS GROUND LEASE OR THE USE OF THE DEMISED PREMISES. 
NOTWITHSTANDING THE FOREGOING, GROUND LESSOR SHALL BE LIABLE FOR LOSSES, 
DAMAGES OR INJURIES PROXIMATELY CAUSED BY THE GROSS NEGLIGENCE OR 
INTENTIONAL ACTS OF GROUND LESSOR OR ITS EMPLOYEES OR AGENTS. THE PARTIES 
DO, HOWEVER, HEREBY AGREE THAT UNDER NO CIRCUMSTANCES SHALL GROUND 
LESSOR BE LIABLE FOR INDIRECT, CONSEQUENTIAL, SPECIAL OR EXEMPLARY DAMAGES, 
WHETHER IN CONTRACT OR TORT. 

Section 8. Insurance. Ground Lessee shall, at its sole expense, carry and keep in force a policy of 
comprehensive liability insurance, including property damage, with respect to office space. Said policy 
shall provide at least the following limits: bodily injury $1,000,000.00 each person, $1,000,000.00 each 
occurrence and property damage $l,000,000.00 each occurrence. In addition to Ground Lessee and to the 
extent possible, the policy shall 1also name Ground Lessor as an additional insured at the cost of Ground 
Lessee, at all times while the Ground Lease is in effect. Ground Lessee shall, upon written request from 
Ground Lessor, deliver to Ground Lessor certificates or other evidence that the insurance coverage required 
above is in effect. Ground Lessee shall further require any third party operating upon the Demised Premises 
or furnishing equipment to be operated upon the Demised Premises to carry comprehensive liability 
insurance in an amount commensurate with the risk, but in no event with less than the limits stated above, 
as well as property and casualty insurance fully insuring said third party’s property against loss. Ground 
Lessee shall have the option of procuring at its sole expense additional insurance coverage against third 
said party risks and liability in which event Ground Lessor shall be named as an additional insured in 
accordance with the foregoing provisions. All insurance required hereunder shall, at a minim um, be issued 
by insurance companies authorized to do business in the State or South Carolina, with a Best’s Rating of at 
least A and a Financial Size Category of at least VH as rated in the most recent edition of Best’s Insurance 
Reports. 

Section 9. Environmental. Ground Lessee and/or its employees, agents, contractors, invitees, licensees 
or permittees shall not deposit or cause to be deposited Hazardous Material (as hereinafter defined) in or 
upon the Demised Premises and shall operate the Demised Premises in full compliance with all laws, orders, 
regulations, rules, ordinances, and requirements of the Federal, State, County and local Governments, 
including all Environmental Laws (as hereinafter defined). The term “Hazardous Material” means any 
substance, chemical, compound, product, solid, gas, liquid, waste, byproduct, pollutant, contaminant, or 
material which is hazardous or toxic. The term “Environmental Laws” means all federal, state and local 
laws, statutes, ordinances and regulations, now or hereafter in effect, and applicable to the Premises relating 



 

to the regulation and protection of human health and safety and/or the environment and natural resources. 

Section 10. Improvements. Ground Lessee shall not erect any permanent structure on or upon the 
Demised Premises. Upon termination of the Ground Lease, Ground Lessee shall, at its sole expense, return 
the Demised Premises to its original condition, normal wear and tear excepted. 

Section 11. Default by Ground Lessee. If Ground Lessee shall fail to keep or shall violate a condition 
or agreement in this Ground Lease on the part of Ground Lessee to be performed and if either such failure 
or violation shall have continued for a period of 60 days after Ground Lessee shall have received written 
notice by certified or registered mail from Ground Lessor to cure such violation or failure, or for such 
additional period of time as may be reasonably necessary provided Ground Lessee diligently undertakes to 
cure such default, then, in such event, Ground Lessor shall have the right at its option, in addition to and 
not in lieu of all of the rights to which it may be entitled to hereunder and by law, to terminate this Ground 
Lease and re-enter and repossess all and singular the Demised Premises. Neither the exercise by Ground 
Lessor of any or all of its rights under this Ground Lease or law nor the defaults by Ground Lessee of any 
of Ground Lessee’s obligations to Ground Lessor shall in any way relieve Ground Lessee of Ground 
Lessee’s obligation to any third party to whom Ground Lessee may be obligated. 

Section 12. Default by Ground Lessor. If Ground Lessor shall fail to keep or shall violate a condition 
or agreement in this Ground Lease on the part of Ground Lessor to be performed and if either such failure 
or violation shall have continued for a period of 60 days after Ground Lessor shall have received written 
notice by certified or registered mail from Ground Lessee to cure such violation or failure, or for such 
additional period of time as may be reasonably necessary provided Ground Lessor diligently undertakes to 
cure such default, then, in such event Ground Lessee may in addition to and not in lieu of all of the rights 
to which it may be entitled hereunder and by law, terminate this Ground Lease and tum over possession of 
the Demised Premises to Ground Lessor. 

Section 13. Termination. Ground Lessee agrees upon the expiration of the original term as specified 
in Section 3, or upon the earlier termination of the Ground Lease as provided herein, to quit and surrender 
the Demised Premises and that all title and interest in the Demises Premises shall vest in Ground Lessor 
free and clear of the encumbrances of this Ground Lease and that the improvements on the Demised 
Premises will be and become the property of Ground Lessor or Ground Lessor’s designee. 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, either party may terminate this Ground Lease for convenience upon 
ninety days written notice to the other party; Ground Lessor shall use best efforts to make an alternative 
site available to Ground Lessee upon the same terms and conditions contained herein in the event Ground 
Lessor terminates the Ground Lease for convenience under this provision. 

Section 14. Notice. Any notice to be given by any party to the other pursuant to the provisions of this 
Ground Lease shall be given by registered or certified mail, addressed to the party for whom it is intended 
at the address stated below, or such other address as may have been designated in writing: 

To Ground Lessee at: [] ______________ 
[] ______________ 
[] ______________ 
Attention: [] ____________ 

To Ground Lessor at: Anderson County 
101 South Main Street 
Anderson, South Carolina 29624 
Attention: County Administrator 

Section 15. Successors and Assigns. The covenants, conditions and agreements contained in this 
Ground Lease shall bind and inure to the benefit of Ground Lessor and Ground Lessee and their respective 
successors and assigns; provided, however, that Ground Lessee shall not assign, sublease or otherwise 
transfer its interests herein without prior written consent of Ground Lessor. 



 

Section 16. Miscellaneous. This Ground Lease shall be subject to the following: 

(a) There are no oral or verbal understandings among Ground Lessor and Ground Lessee concerning 
the subject matter of this Ground Lease, and any amendment, modification or supplement to this Ground 
Lease must be in writing and signed by all parties. 

(b) No waiver of any condition or covenant in this Ground Lease, or of any breach thereof, shall be 
taken to constitute a waiver of any subsequent breach. 

(c) Whenever Ground Lessee requests any consent, permission or approval which may be required or 
desired by Ground Lessee pursuant to the provisions hereof, Ground Lessor shall not be arbitrary or 
capricious in withholding or postponing the granting of such consent, permission or approval. 

(d) All covenants, promises, conditions and obligations herein contained or implied by law are 
covenants running with the land and shall attach and bind and inure to the benefit of Ground Lessor and 
Ground Lessee and their respective legal representatives, successors and assigns, except as otherwise 
provided herein. 

(e) The patties will at any time at the request of any other party, promptly execute duplicate originals 
of an instrument, in recordable form, which will constitute a short form of lease, setting forth a description 
of the Demised Premises, the term of this Ground Lease and any other portions thereof, as either party may 
request. 

Section 17. Execution in Counterparts. This Ground Lease may be simultaneously executed in 
several counterparts each of which shall be an original and all of which shall constitute but one and the 
same instrument. 

Section 18. Applicable Law. This Ground Lease shall be governed by and construed in accordance 
with the laws of the State of South Carolina without regard to conflict of laws principles. 

Section 19. Non-Appropriation. This Ground Lease is at all times subject to the appropriation of funds 
by the Anderson County Council. In the event of non-appropriation, this Ground Lease shall immediately 
terminate without further obligation or liability on the part of Ground Lessor. 

Section 20. Captions. The captions or headings herein are for convenience only and in no way define, 
limit, or describe the scope or intent of any provisions or sections of this Ground Lease. 

[TWO SIGNATURE PAGES AND TWO EXHIBITS FOLLOW] 
[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK] 

  



 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have set their hands as of the date first above written. 

GROUND LESSOR: 
ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 

By:       
Chairman, County Council 

By:       
County Administrator 

[SEAL] 
Attest: 

By:       
Clerk, County Council 

ADDITIONAL WITNESSES 

       

       

[ANDERSON COUNTY SIGNATURE PAGE] 

  



 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have set their hands as of the date first above written. 

GROUND LESSEE: 
HOPE MISSIONS OF THE UPSTATE 

By:       
Its: President 

ADDITIONAL WITNESSES 

       

       

[HOPE MISSIONS OF THE UPSTATE SIGNATURE PAGE] 

  



 

EXHIBIT A 
PROPERTY DESCRIPTION 

 
 The building is located at 213 S. Towers Street in Anderson, South Carolina.  
The leased area will be on the main floor and will include the entire floor.  



 

EXHIBIT B 
PROPERTY DEPICTION 

SEE ATTACHED 





 
 

 

 A-1 

 

ORDINANCE NO. 2024-011 
 
AN ORDINANCE FINDING THAT HOMELAND PARK WATER DISTRICT, SOUTH 
CAROLINA, MAY ISSUE NOT EXCEEDING $1,250,000 OF GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS 
IN ONE OR MORE SERIES; TO AUTHORIZE HOMELAND PARK WATER COMMISSION TO 
ISSUE SUCH BONDS AND TO PROVIDE FOR THE PUBLICATION OF NOTICE OF THE SAID 
FINDING AND AUTHORIZATION; AND OTHER MATTERS RELATED THERETO. 
 
 
 WHEREAS, by action previously taken, the Anderson County Council (the “County Council”), 
which is the governing body of Anderson County, South Carolina (the “County”), ordered that a public 
hearing on the question of the issuance of not exceeding $1,250,000 of general obligation bonds of 
Homeland Park Water District, South Carolina (the “District”) be held in the Anderson County Council 
Chambers, at 6:30 p.m. on March 19, 2024, and notice of such public hearing has been duly published once 
a week for three successive weeks in The Anderson Independent-Mail, a newspaper of general circulation in 
the County; and 
  
 WHEREAS, the said hearing has been duly held at the above time, date and place and said public 
hearing was conducted publicly and both proponents and opponents of the proposed action were given full 
opportunity to be heard, and it is now in order for the County Council to proceed, after due deliberation, in 
accordance with the provisions of Title 6, Chapter 11, Article 5 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina, 
1976, as amended, (the “Enabling Act”) to make a finding as to whether not exceeding $1,250,000 of 
general obligation bonds of the District should be issued. 
  
 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED, by the County Council in meeting duly assembled: 
  
 Section 1. It is found and determined that each statement of fact set forth in the preambles of 
this Ordinance is in all respects true and correct. 
  
 Section 2. It is found and determined that the Homeland Park Water Commission (the 
“Commission”), the governing body of the District, should be authorized to issue and should issue not 
exceeding $1,250,000 of general obligation bonds of the District, in one or more series, as the District shall 
determine. 
 
 Section 3. The County Council hereby authorizes the Commission to issue general obligation 
bonds of the District in the aggregate principal amount of not exceeding $1,250,000 as a single issue or from 
time to time as several separate issues, as the Commission shall determine, for the purpose of defraying the 
cost of acquiring, constructing, renovating, installing, furnishing and equipping certain waterline 
improvements, sewer line improvements and facility repairs, and to acquire various items of equipment 
for the District and related issuance costs of such bonds. 
 
 For the payment of the principal of and interest on such bonds as they respectively mature, and for 
the creation of such sinking fund as may be necessary therefor, the full faith, credit and taxing power of the 
District shall be irrevocably pledged, and there shall be levied annually a tax without limit on all taxable 
property in the District sufficient to pay such principal of and interest on the said bonds as they respectively 
mature, and to create such sinking fund. 
 
 Section 4. Pursuant to Section 6-11-870 of the Enabling Act, notice of the action herewith 
taken shall be given in the form substantially as set forth in Exhibit A hereto. Such notice shall be published 
once a week for three successive weeks in The Anderson Independent-Mail, a newspaper of general 
circulation in Anderson County. 



 
 

 

 A-2 

 

 
 Section 5. The County Council is mindful that the provisions of Section 4-9-1220 of the Code 
of Laws of South Carolina, 1976, as amended, apply to this Ordinance. 
 
 Section 6. The Chairman and other officers of the County Council are herewith authorized 
and empowered to take such further action as may be necessary to fully implement the action taken by this 
Ordinance. 
 
 Section 7. A certified copy of this Ordinance shall forthwith be transmitted to the 
Commission to advise it of the action taken by the County Council, whereby the Commission has been 
authorized to issue, pursuant to the provisions of the Enabling Act, its general obligation bonds in the 
aggregate principal amount of not exceeding $1,250,000. 
 
 Section 8. The bonds authorized hereunder to be issued by the District (i) are general 
obligation bonds of the District; (ii) are not general obligations bond of the County; (iii) will in no way 
count against the constitutional debt limit of the County; and (iv) will not constitute or give rise to a 
pecuniary liability of the County or a charge against the full faith, credit or taxing power of the County. 
 
 ORDAINED in meeting duly assembled this _________ day of ________, 2024. 
 
 
 

[SIGNATURE PAGE TO FOLLOW] 
 
 
ATTEST:          FOR ANDERSON COUNTY: 
 

Rusty Burns      Tommy Dunn, District #5, Chairman 
Anderson County Administrator 
                                                                           
 
 
Renee Watts 
Clerk to Council 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
Leon C. Harmon 
Anderson County Attorney 
 
First Reading: _________________ 
Second Reading: _______________ 
Third Reading:  ________________ 
 
Public Hearing: ________________ 
 



 
 

 

 A-3 

 

 
 
 EXHIBIT A 
 

NOTICE PURSUANT TO SECTION 6-11-870 
CODE OF LAWS OF SOUTH CAROLINA, 1976, AS AMENDED 

 
 Notice is hereby given pursuant to the provisions of Section 6-11-870 of the Code of Laws of South 
Carolina, 1976, as amended, and following a public hearing on March 19, 2024, that the County Council of 
Anderson County has found that: 
 
 1. Homeland Park Water District, South Carolina (the “District”), created by Act No. 1101 of 
the Acts and Joint Resolutions of the General Assembly of the State of South Carolina for the year 1950, as 
amended, has been authorized to issue not exceeding $1,250,000 of general obligation bonds of the District 
either as a single issue, or as several separate issues, for the purpose of defraying the cost of acquiring, 
constructing, renovating, installing, furnishing and equipping certain waterline improvements, sewer line 
improvements and facility repairs, and to acquire various items of equipment for the District and related 
issuance costs. For the payment of the principal of and interest on such bonds as they respectively mature 
and for the creation of such sinking fund as may be necessary therefore, the full faith, credit and taxing 
power of the District shall be irrevocably pledged, and there shall be levied annually a tax without limit on 
all taxable property in the District sufficient to pay such principal and interest and to create such sinking 
fund. 
 
 2. No election has been ordered in the District upon the question of the issuance of the 
aforesaid bonds. 
 
 Any person affected by the action aforesaid of the County Council of Anderson County may by 
action de novo instituted in the Court of Common Pleas for Anderson County within twenty (20) days 
following the last publication of this Notice but not afterwards challenge the action of the County Council of 
Anderson County. 
 
 
      COUNTY COUNCIL OF ANDERSON COUNTY 
 
 



STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ) 
 ) CERTIFIED COPY OF ORDINANCE 
COUNTY OF ANDERSON ) 
 
 
 I, the undersigned, Clerk to County Council (the “Council”) of Anderson County, South Carolina, 
DO HEREBY CERTIFY: 
  
 That the foregoing constitutes a true, correct and verbatim copy of an Ordinance which was given 
three readings on three separate days, with an interval of not less than seven days between the second and 
third readings. The original of this Ordinance is duly entered in the permanent records of minutes of 
meetings of the Council, in my custody as the Clerk to Council. 
  
 That each of said meetings was duly called, and all members of the County Council were notified of 
the same; that a quorum of the membership remained throughout the proceedings incident to the enactment 
of this Ordinance. 
  
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my Hand this 19th day of March, 2024. 
 
 
       ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
 
              
       Clerk to County Council, 
       Anderson County, South Carolina 
 
 
First Reading:  February 20, 2024 
Second Reading: March 5, 2024 
Third Reading:  March 19, 2024 
 
Public Hearing:  March 19, 2024 
 



RESOLUTION NO. 2024-009 
 
A RESOLUTION CALLING FOR A PUBLIC HEARING TO BE HELD UPON THE QUESTION 
OF THE ISSUANCE OF NOT EXCEEDING $1,250,000 GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS OF 
HOMELAND PARK WATER DISTRICT, SOUTH CAROLINA, AND TO PROVIDE FOR THE 
PUBLICATION OF THE NOTICE OF SUCH HEARING; AND OTHER MATTERS RELATED 
THERETO. 
 

BE IT RESOLVED, by the Anderson County Council (the “County Council”), which is the 
governing body of Anderson County, South Carolina (the “County”): 

WHEREAS, the County Council is empowered by Title 6, Chapter 11, Article 5 of the Code of 
laws of South Carolina, 1976, as amended, (the “Enabling Act”) to authorize the governing body of any 
special purpose district created prior to March 7, 1973 and located in whole or in part within the County, 
to issue general obligation bonds of such special purpose district and to provide funds to be used in the 
furtherance of any power or function committed to such special purpose district and in effect on March 7, 
1973; and 

WHEREAS, Homeland Park Water District, South Carolina (the “District”), a special purpose 
district created prior to March 7, 1973 (having been created by Act No. 1101 of the Acts of the General 
Assembly of the State of South Carolina for the year 1950, as amended) and located solely within the 
County with the function, inter alia, of building, constructing, operating and maintaining waterworks and 
sewer lines throughout the District, and all apparatus necessary for the proper functioning of the same, 
and from time to time to enlarge the same for the residents of the District, has petitioned the County 
Council to authorize the issuance of not exceeding $1,250,000 of general obligation bonds of the District 
in order to raise moneys to defray the cost of acquiring, constructing, renovating, installing, furnishing 
and equipping certain waterline improvements, sewer line improvements and facility repairs, and to 
acquire various items of equipment for the District (collectively, the “Improvements”) and related 
issuance costs. The County Council is now mindful to proceed in accordance with the provisions of the 
Enabling Act with respect to the issuance of such bond. 

SECTION 1 The County Council finds that it may be in the interest of the District to raise 
moneys for the purpose of providing for the Improvements, and in that connection hereby orders a public 
hearing to be held upon the question of the issuance of not exceeding $1,250,000 of general obligation 
bonds of the District, in one or more series. 

SECTION 2 A public hearing shall be held on the question of the issuance of not exceeding 
$1,250,000 of general obligation bonds of the District, in one or more series, in the Anderson County 
Council Chambers located on the second floor of the Historic Courthouse, 101 South Main Street, 
Anderson, South Carolina, on March 19, 2024, at 6:30 p.m., and the Notice of such hearing attached 
hereto as Exhibit A shall be published once a week for three (3) successive weeks in The Anderson 
Independent-Mail, which is a newspaper of general circulation in the County. The first such publication 
shall not be less than sixteen (16) days prior to the hearing date. 

SECTION 3 The aforesaid hearing shall be conducted publicly at the time and place above 
stated and both proponents and opponents of the proposed bond issue shall be given a full opportunity to 
be heard in person or by counsel. 

SECTION 4 Following the above aforesaid public hearing, the County Council shall 
determine whether and to what extent the proposed bonds should be issued. 



2 

SECTION 5 The Chairman of the County Council is hereby authorized and empowered to 
take all necessary action to provide for the holding of the aforesaid public hearing in accordance with the 
provisions of the Enabling Act. 
 
 

RESOLVED this 20th day of February, 2024 in meeting duly assembled. 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
              
Rusty Burns      Tommy Dunn, Chairman 
Anderson County Administrator   
 
 
       
___________________________________        
Renee Watts                                  
Clerk to County Council 
        
            
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
       
Leon C. Harmon 
Anderson County Attorney 
 
 



A-1 

 EXHIBIT A 
 
NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING ON THE PROPOSED ISSUE OF NOT 
EXCEEDING $1,250,000 OF GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS, IN ONE OR 
MORE SERIES, OF HOMELAND PARK WATER DISTRICT, SOUTH 
CAROLINA 

 
The Anderson County Council (the “County Council”), which is the governing body of 

Anderson County, South Carolina, has determined that it may be in the interest of the Homeland Park 
Water District, South Carolina (the “District”) to raise moneys through the issuance of general obligation 
bonds, in one or more series, of the District in an amount not exceeding $1,250,000 for the purpose of 
defraying the cost of acquiring, constructing, renovating, installing, furnishing and equipping certain 
waterline improvements, sewer line improvements and facility repairs, and to acquire various items of 
equipment for the District (collectively, the “Improvements”) and related issuance costs and has ordered 
a public hearing to be held upon the question of the issuance of such bonds in accordance with the 
provisions of Title 6, Chapter 11, Article 5 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina, 1976, as amended (the 
“Enabling Act”). 

 
Accordingly, notice is hereby given that a public hearing will be held in the Anderson County 

Council Chambers, on the second floor of the Historic Courthouse, 101 South Main Street, Anderson, 
South Carolina, beginning at 6:30 p.m. on March 19, 2024, on the question of the issuance of not 
exceeding $1,250,000 of general obligation bonds of the District, the proceeds of which will be expended 
to defray the cost of the Improvements and related issuance costs as described above. 

 
For the payment of principal of and interest on such bonds as they respectfully mature and for the 

creation of such sinking fund as may be necessary therefor, the full faith, credit and taxing power of the 
District shall be irrevocably pledged, and there shall be levied on all taxable property in the District ad 
valorem taxes sufficient in amount to pay said principal and interest on the bonds. 

 
The District proposes the issuance of such bonds, in one or more series, to defray the cost of the 

Improvements and related issuance costs as described above. 
 
The aforesaid hearing shall be conducted publicly and both proponents and opponents of the 

proposed action shall be given full opportunity to be heard in person or by counsel. Following the 
hearing, the County Council shall, by ordinance, make a finding as to whether and to what extent the 
proposed bonds should be issued and may thereupon authorize the governing body of the District to issue 
such bonds, in one or more series, to the extent it shall be found necessary. 

 
The District is located solely within Anderson County. The Enabling Act provides that bonds 

issued thereunder must be authorized by the governing body of the County wherein the District is located. 
 
ANDERSON COUNTY COUNCIL 

 



 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ) 
 ) CERTIFIED COPY OF RESOLUTION 
COUNTY OF ANDERSON ) 
 

I, the undersigned Clerk to County Council (the “Council”) of Anderson County, South Carolina 
(the “County”) DO HEREBY CERTIFY: 
 

That the foregoing constitutes a true, correct and verbatim copy of a Resolution duly adopted by 
the Council at a meeting duly called and held on February 20, 2024, at which meeting, a quorum of the 
Council was present, and a majority of which voted in favor of the adoption thereof and that the original 
of said Resolution is duly entered in the permanent records of the Council, in my custody as the Clerk to 
Council. 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my Hand this 20th day of February, 2024. 
 
      ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
 
             
      Clerk to County Council, 

Anderson County, South Carolina 
 
 


































































	Agenda CCM February 20, 2024
	2a Resolution 2024-007 Pamela Christopher
	2b Resolution 2024-008 TCTC Career Pathways
	5a Ordinance 2023-052 Project Trust/Carolina Structural Systems
	5b Ordinance 2024-003 Rezoning
	5c Ordinance 2024-006 Project Turkey/EastGroup Properites
	5d Ordinance 2024-007 MCIP Project Turkey
	5e Ordinance 2024-008 Amend Section 24-335
	6a Ordinance 2024-002 MCIP Project Colorful
	6b Ordinance 2024-009 MCIP 
	6c Ordinance 2024-010 Library Board of Trustees
	7a Ordinance 2024-005 Hope Missions Lease
	7b Ordinance 2024-011 Bond Homeland Park Water District
	8a Resolution 2024-009 PH HPW
	9a Bid 24-018 Boiler ASEC
	9b Bid 24-019 Dolly Cooper Lighting Project
	10a Appropriation Request Pendleton Rec
	11a Budget Transfers
	11b Special Projects
	11c Paving



